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statement of strategic intent
To be the preferred supplier of banking services to  

communities within South East NSW and the ACT by  
providing the level of service those communities expect  

by way of face-to-face and remote access methods.

Values
Our values portray how we wish to be seen as an organisation  

and the qualities in which we take pride:

 – we are respectful and courteous

 – we are tolerant and supportive

 – we are honest and open

 – we are dependable and accountable

 – we are prudent and ethical, and

 – we are community and Member connected.
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MessAGe FRoM 
tHe CHAIR AnD 
CHIeF eXeCUtIVe

There is no doubt the slow road to economic recovery 
has influenced SERVICE ONE Members Banking’s 
(SERVICE ONE’s) results for the 2011/12 financial year. 
In the face of continuing economic uncertainty, low 
consumer confidence has dampened demand for 
credit and consumers have shifted their attention to 
strengthening their financial position by increasing 
their savings. The competition for deposits has also 
intensified delivering greater pressure on margins. 
In these challenging times, SERVICE ONE has maintained 
a focus on prudent financial management while 
continuing to provide positive banking solutions 
for our Members.

Financial performance
Within the context of these testing economic conditions, 
we are pleased to report that most of our key financial 
performance indicators improved on last financial 
year. Net profit after tax improved by eight per cent to 
$853,000 (from $790,000 the previous year) and assets 
increased slightly from $284,798,000 to $290,339,000 
(a two per cent difference). Our loans on balance 
sheet increased from $221,790,000 to $231,118,000 
(representing an increase of four per cent) and there 
was a small increase in total deposits, from $259,748,000 
to $263,472,000 (a one per cent increase). 

Our Capital Adequacy Ratio, which is a measure of our 
capital strength, remained well above the Australian 
Prudential Regulation Authority’s (APRA’s) regulatory 
requirements, finishing the year at 14.9 per cent 
(from 14.2 per cent the previous year). Our liquidity 
levels continue to ensure we can meet our financial 
obligations through the successful monitoring and 
projection of cash flows, despite the highly competitive 
deposit environment which has characterised this year.

Despite some Members finding the current environment 
testing, the year saw total impairment losses on loans 
and advances decrease from $270,000 to $176,000 – 
a positive result given the strong progress made in this 
area in the 2010/11 reporting period.

While we have achieved some good results this year, 
there is still much work to be done to ensure we have 
a sustainable and high performing organisation well 
into the future. 

“... most of our key financial performance 
indicators improved... ” 

Continued focus on efficiency
In light of the environment in which we are working, 
SERVICE ONE has taken steps to ensure that all areas 
of our business are operating as efficiently as possible. 
With consumer banking behaviour shifting significantly 
(from face-to-face to remote forms of access) one of 
the areas that necessitated consideration was our access 
channels, including our Branch network. Earlier in the 
year, we made the difficult decision to close our Branch 
at the Calvary Hospital. Despite this closure, we have 
been able to assist Calvary staff and visitors through the 
on-site rediATM and the face-to-face services at nearby 
Branches. Positively, we have been able to maintain close 
ties with the hospital, featuring at several of their staff 
events and we continue to support their staff awards 
and other initiatives.

Some other Branch changes were implemented, 
including changing the opening hours of several 
Branches to accommodate the transaction patterns 
of Members utilising these Branches. Added to this, 
two of our Branches now operate as Service Centres 
(the Brindabella Business Park and The Canberra 
Hospital locations) assisting our Members with financial 
products such as loans, investments, insurance and other 
non-cash transactions.

Another significant change this year was the move to 
make our telephone support service available seven days 
a week giving Members the ability to access one-on-one 
support as they need it. In addition, we added mobile 
banking functionality and a new mobile website 
designed to be viewed on smartphones and tablets. 
We firmly believe these innovations allow us to provide 
a comprehensive mix of access channels for all Members 
taking into consideration the changing patterns of 
usage and technological advances.
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Message from the Chair and Chief executive

The operating landscape has changed significantly with 
many Members choosing non face-to-face methods of 
accessing financial services. It is imperative that SERVICE 
ONE continues to evolve and embrace changes while 
continuing to provide access via channels that are 
important to our Members. 

our Board
SERVICE ONE’s Board and Executive remain focused 
on ensuring the credit union’s long-term sustainability 
while delivering on their fiduciary duties of governance. 
Our corporate governance program is integral to 
this effort, as it provides the framework for auditing, 
management of performance, and decision making. 
Dedicated sub-committees, comprising members of 
the Board ensure SERVICE ONE is operating efficiently, 
effectively, and legally as we work towards our goals. 
More information on these committees and their roles 
can be found in the ‘Corporate Governance Statement’ 
on page 10. 

Members of the Board continue to improve their 
skills and competencies to ensure they are able to 
responsibly guide SERVICE ONE in an increasingly 
complex environment. Directors actively participate 
in industry forums and other programs which advance 
SERVICE ONE’s capabilities. 

The election of Directors as part of the 2011 Annual 
General Meeting (AGM) looked to fill two vacancies 
that opened on the Board. Ian Davis and Heather Nash 
were re-appointed to the Board as part of this process 
and they continue to make a valuable contribution to 
the Board’s work. 

Government reform
The Australian Government’s banking reforms saw the 
introduction of a significant change within the sector 
during this reporting period – the launch of Home 
Loan Key Facts Sheets, providing consumers with the 
ability to more clearly compare loan options between 
lenders. From 1 July 2012, changes also came into 
effect to facilitate account portability between banking 
institutions. SERVICE ONE continues to invest to take 
advantage of these changes which are designed to 
encourage increased competition in the sector.

Member satisfaction
During the middle of the financial year, Members, 
once again, took the time to complete our Member 
survey. The latest survey results saw SERVICE ONE score 
an overall 95 per cent satisfaction rating – one of the 
highest results of any banking institution in Australia 
and our advocacy levels remain strong which is pleasing. 

Thank you to all Members who took the time to 
complete this survey – the survey continues to be 
important for us as Member feedback forms a solid basis 
for our business planning and we remain committed to 
continuing to improve the services we offer to Members.

Revamped loans 
This year saw SERVICE ONE make some significant 
changes to our loans offering. This includes restructuring 
our personal loans to align pricing with the security 
being provided for the loan, the rollout of home 
loans that incorporate an offset facility, more options 
when it comes to fixed rates and a revamped banking 
package. In addition, we launched a new personal loan 
providing a discounted interest rate for the purchase of 
environmentally-friendly solutions.

Looking forward
As we suspected, the road to global economic recovery 
has been a drawn out one and it seems that we are 
unlikely to see a significant improvement in the coming 
year. For the banking sector, the trends we are seeing 
in low consumer confidence and a slowing in demand 
for credit will continue. This will have a direct impact 
on SERVICE ONE and requires us to identify and develop 
opportunities to drive business improvements to ensure 
that we meet our long-term goals. 

thank you
We have seen some significant developments within 
SERVICE ONE during the past year and it is pleasing to 
see our valued Members supporting their credit union 
through these changing times. We sincerely value the 
strong loyalty of our Members and it is our hope that all 
Members feel they are rewarded for this loyalty through 
competitive offerings, good value banking and Member 
service you would be hard pressed to find elsewhere. 
Clearly, this can only be provided if staff are committed 
and engaged – we feel privileged to have such loyal and 
focused staff who show in their work every day that 
they value and appreciate our Members. Thank you 
all for your ongoing support.

John Clarke Peter Carlin 
Chair Chief Executive
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July september october December January February April May

The Australian Government 
bans exit fees on home loans 
aiming to increase the level of 
competition in the sector. 

SERVICE ONE expands its 
existing home loan offering 
by providing additional fixed 
rate options, introducing a 
first home buyer introductory 
product and changing 
personal loans to provide 
Members with clearer pricing 
and more options.

SERVICE ONE launches payWave 
functionality on Visa cards, giving 

Members the ability to ‘wave-
and-go’ at stores accepting these 

payments. 

As part of a team building activity, SERVICE ONE 
staff build kennels for RSPCA centres in Cooma 
and Canberra. As part of this program, Jaime 
Newland from our Operations department is 
announced the 2011 Employee of the Year.

The 2012 International Year of Co-operatives 
launches at the United Nations – a year to 
celebrate businesses such as credit unions, 
owned and run to benefit their Members. 

SERVICE ONE hosts a home 
buying seminar in Canberra, 

aiming to provide practical 
advice to those looking to 

get into the housing market. 
The seminar is strongly 

supported by the community.

SERVICE ONE supports the 
2012 Barnardos Star of 

Wonder toy appeal, the most 
successful yet, donating toys 

to local community centres for 
disadvantaged children.

seRVICe one Annual Report 2011 | 2012

tHe YeAR tHAt WAs
2011/12 was a busy year for seRVICe one and the banking sector more 
broadly. Here is an overview of the year that was… 
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the Year that Was

July september october December January February April May

On 1 January 2012, the Australian Government 
introduces Home Loan Key Facts Sheets as part of 
its broader banking reform package. Facts sheets 
follow the same template across all banking 
institutions, making it easier for consumers to 
compare home loan products in the market. 

Further changes are made to SERVICE ONE’s 
loans, including the introduction of the Pioneer 
Banking Package, an offset facility, a discounted 
variable rate personal loan for the purchase of 
environmentally-friendly solutions and further 
flexibility for fixed rate home loans.

Results from our 2012 Member 
survey are released revealing 
95 per cent of Members are 
satisfied with service levels 
provided by SERVICE ONE – one 
of the strongest results of any 
banking institution in Australia.

The Australian Government 
reduces the guarantee on 
deposits, temporarily increased 
during the height of the global 
financial crisis, from $1million to 
$250,000 as part of the Financial 
Claims Scheme.

The Brumbies season kicks off, 
including the introduction of 
the SERVICE ONE Seat Upgrade, 
giving fans the chance to enjoy 
matches from an open box at 
Canberra Stadium.

SERVICE ONE employee, Rebecca Fazey, participates 
in the 2012 Fijian Leadership Challenge. Organised 
by Credit Union Foundation Australia, this 13-day 
challenge involved kayaking over 60km around 
islands and visiting various community projects 
across Fiji. Twelve leaders from various Australian 
credit unions participated and managed to raise 
an impressive $57,000 to go towards Pacific 
development activities, smashing the previous 
record for the highest amount raised.

The underwriter for SERVICE ONE’s insurance 
products, MemberCare insurance, changes to QBE 
Insurance providing opportunities for product 
enhancements in the future.

SERVICE ONE launches the Multi-Currency Cash 
Passport, enabling Members to load up to seven 
different currencies onto a single pre-paid, chip and 
PIN protected card.

Our telephone support service moves to seven days 
a week, allowing us to assist Members throughout 
the weekend. 

Several new features were 
added to SERVICE ONE’s 
Internet banking facility, 
eLink, including the ability to 
open certain accounts online, 
activate new cards, manage 
statement delivery options 
as well as update personal 
contact details.

SERVICE ONE launches eLink 
ON-THE-GO, a web enabled 
smartphone and tablet 
friendly mobile banking 
solution, and our mobile 
website allowing easier access.

During the financial year, the staff ‘jeans day’ program 
contributed much needed funds to the Muscular 
Dystrophy Foundation, RSPCA, ShelterBox, Batemans Bay 
Surf Life Saving Club, Hartley Lifecare, Barnardos Star 
of Wonder appeal, HeartKids, The Smith Family, Guide 
Dogs ACT and NSW, the Linda Cox Memorial Fund, the 
Smith Family Winter Appeal and the Yellow Van.
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CoRPoRAte 
DIReCtoRY

Administration Centre
Service One Credit Union Limited  
operating as SERVICE ONE Members Banking 
ABN 42 095 848 598 
AFSL/Australian Credit Licence Number 240 836

75 Denison Street 
DEAKIN ACT 2600

Locked Bag 1 
DEAKIN ACT 2600

BSB 801 009

Telephone 1300 361 761 
Fax (02) 6215 7171 
For overseas callers 
+ 61 2 6215 7100

Internet and email
somb.com.au

members@somb.com.au

Phone Banking (Australia)
1300 361 431

Branch Locations
Australian National University 
Union Court, Acton

Batemans Bay 
Shop G21C, Village Centre

Belconnen 
Shop 164, Gallery Level 
Westfield Belconnen

Bemboka 
Loftus Street

Brindabella Business Park 
23 Brindabella Circuit, 
The Canberra Airport

Canberra City 
Shop 32A, Baileys Arcade 

Cooma 
138 Sharp Street

 

Deakin 
75 Denison Street

Gungahlin 
Hibberson Street, The Marketplace

Queanbeyan 
68–70 Monaro Street

The Canberra Hospital 
Yamba Drive, Garran

Tuggeranong 
Shop 23, Ground Level 
Tuggeranong Hyperdome

Tumut 
Shop 3, The Connection 
87 Wynyard Street

University of Canberra 
Student Services Centre, Bruce

Woden 
Shop 71, Gallery Court 
Westfield Woden

Directors
Mr John Clarke (Chair) LLB

Mr Erik Adriaanse BA (Acc), FCPA, FPS

Professor Jennifer Corbett BA (Hons), MA (Ec), MA, PhD

Mr Ian Davis BA (Hons)

Ms Heather Nash BA, LLB, FAICD 

Mrs Deborah Robinson MBA, BComm, FAICD

Mr Ivan Slavich BBus, Grad Dip AFI, Grad Cert BA,  
MAGA, AFAIM, FAICD

executive
Mr Peter Carlin – Chief Executive BA (Acctng), FCPA

Mr Matthew Smith – Deputy Chief Executive and 
Chief Finance Officer BComm, CPA

Ms Anna Storti – General Manager – Retail MBA (Exec)

Mr Tony Brown – Head of Risk and Compliance Dip FS

mailto:members@somb.com.au
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Corporate Directory

 

Corporate Governance Committee
Mr Ian Davis (Chair)

Mr John Clarke

Mr Ivan Slavich

Audit and Compliance Committee
Mr Erik Adriaanse (Chair)

Mr John Clarke

Professor Jennifer Corbett

Finance and Risk Committee
Ms Heather Nash (Chair)

Mr Ian Davis

Mrs Deborah Robinson

Bankers
Cuscal Limited

solicitors
HWL Ebsworth Lawyers

Internal Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers

external Auditor
Ernst & Young

Insurers
Chubb Insurance Company of Australia Ltd

Specialist Underwriting Agencies Pty Ltd

QBE Insurance Australia
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DIReCtoRs

John Clarke
(Chair)
John has been a  
Director of Service 
One Credit Union 
since 2001 and prior 
to that was a Director 
of Snowy Mountains 
Credit Union from 
1996. Since 1975, he has been a barrister and solicitor 
for the Supreme Courts of NSW, ACT and the High 
Court of Australia, practicing in Cooma and Canberra. 
He is currently a Director of the Cooma Rotary Club 
and has been involved with many other community 
organisations including Apex, Landcare, women’s 
refuge, nursing homes, preschools, daycare centres 
and has been a pro bono adviser to various community 
organisations for many years.

erik Adriaanse
Erik is a qualified 
fellow CPA, a past 
ACT CPA Divisional 
Councillor, and 
past President of 
CPA Australia in 
Canberra. Following 
a 30 year career as 
an Accountant and 
Financial Planner, 
he became General Manager of Independent Property 
Group, Director of Independent Body Corporate Services 
and Laing + Simmons Strata. He was Chairman of the 
IPG Management Committee and until recently was 
a Director of the Snowy Hydro SouthCare Helicopter 
Trust. He is also a national Director and ACT delegate of 
Strata Community Australia Inc and President of Strata 
Community Australia (ACT). He is also Treasurer and 
Board member of Legacy Club of Canberra ACT and was 
a Board member of the Cultural Facilities Corporation, 
Australian Council of Professions, CIT Audit and 
Compliance Committee and the ANU Centre for 
Dialogue Steering Committee. 

Jennifer Corbett
Jenny was appointed as 
a non-executive Director 
of Service One Credit 
Union in August 2005 
and elected as Director 
in 2006. Jenny grew up 
in Canberra and was an 
undergraduate student 
at the ANU. She is currently a Professor of Economics 
at the Crawford School of Economics and Government, 
and Executive Director of the Australia-Japan Research 
Centre at the ANU. Jenny is also a Fellow of St Antony’s 
College, Oxford and was, for several years, Chair of 
its Finance Committee. Jenny’s research interests 
include corporate governance in, and regulation of, 
financial institutions. 

Ian Davis
Ian Davis is the Chief 
Executive of Inside 
Publishers (formerly 
National Publishers), 
a specialised 
Canberra-based 
publisher of newsletters 
and other publications 
for the finance industry 
and Government 
agencies. He is active in the general Canberra and 
business communities. Ian is Chair of SERVICE ONE’s 
Corporate Governance Committee and a member 
of its Finance and Risk Committee, a member of 
Canberra Business Council’s Consultative Committee, 
a former member of the Council of the University of 
Canberra, former Chair of their Finance Committee, a 
former member of the ACT Department of Education’s 
Accreditation and Registration Council and the former 
Chair of CREEDA which operated the ACT’s small 
business incubators. He has lived in Canberra for more 
than 20 years and established Inside Publishers after 
a career in journalism (Finance Editor and News Editor 
of The Canberra Times, Government Business Editor 
of The Australian Financial Review and Economics 
Correspondent for The Age).
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Directors

 

Heather nash
Heather is an 
experienced company 
Director, having 
been on the Boards 
of UniSuper and 
currently of the 
Uniting Church 
(NSW and ACT) 
Trust Association and SERVICE ONE since 2008. She 
has lived in Canberra continuously since 1985 and in 
the 1970s when studying at the ANU. She has a strong 
commitment to Canberra and the surrounding regions 
and has been involved on a voluntary basis with 
several community organisations. Heather worked in 
the ANU administration for 18 years before moving to 
the Australian Library and Information Association for 
three years as Industrial Relations and Human Resources 
Advisor. Heather now concentrates on non-executive 
directorships and running a trustee business Heather 
Nash Fiduciary Services. In addition to her legal training, 
she has completed the exams for the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors (AICD) and is a Fellow of the 
Institute. 

Deborah 
Robinson
A Canberra resident 
since 1974, Deborah 
has been a credit 
union Member for 
over 30 years and an 
active Board member 
for 17 years. Deborah 
has strong financial 
and corporate 
governance skills, and a thorough understanding 
of the financial services industry. Deborah’s relevant 
experience in the workforce includes an audit role with 
a firm of Chartered Accountants and as a manager/tax 
adviser with the government sector. Academically she 
has a Master of Business Administration and a Bachelor 
of Commerce. Her professional training has included 
completing the Company Directors Course Diploma and 
the AICD Mastering the Boardroom Advanced Program. 

Ivan slavich
Ivan was appointed 
to the SERVICE ONE 
Board in February 
2009, and is currently 
the CEO of TransACT 
Communications 
(an iiNet company) 
– a multimedia 
technology company. Ivan holds a Bachelor of Business 
degree from UTS, Graduate Diploma in Applied Finance 
and Investment from the Australian Securities Institute 
of Australia and Graduate Certificate in Business 
Administration from the Mt Eliza Business School, along 
with being a Graduate and Fellow of the AICD. Ivan also 
maintains strong links with the community, through his 
work on several Boards – including the Chairman of the 
Canberra Cavalry ABL baseball team, Director on the 
Capital Football Board, senior counsellor for the ACT 
& Region Chamber of Commerce and Industry, Director 
of the Gallery of Australian Design, Director of Ronald 
McDonald House Canberra charity ball committee, 
charity work with Camp Quality and Movember and 
as an ACT Business Leaders Innovative Thoughts and 
Solutions Champion – a program run by the ACT 
Government to promote initiatives that value and 
engage those with disabilities.
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CoRPoRAte 
GoVeRnAnCe 
stAteMent

The Board of SERVICE ONE is committed to the 
achievement of best practice in corporate governance. 
As a public company and holder of a banking licence 
the Board adheres to the requirements set out in the:

•	 Corporations Act 2001, and

•	 Banking Act 1959 and related Prudential Standards.

The Board’s approach to corporate governance has also 
been influenced by the relevant parts of the Corporate 
Governance Principles and Recommendations issued by 
the ASX Corporate Governance Council available at  
asx.com.au/corporate-governance-council.htm.

The Board recognises that achieving best practice 
is an ongoing process and will reflect changes in 
community thinking. 

SERVICE ONE has developed a corporate governance 
section on our website. The various codes, policies 
and terms of reference referred to in this statement 
are published on our website and can be accessed 
by hovering over ‘Important Information’ and then 
selecting ‘Corporate Governance’.

Board of Directors
The Board has adopted the following key 
responsibilities:

•	 act in the best interest of SERVICE ONE as a whole

•	 observe their duties as Directors in terms of 
corporations law, general law, SERVICE ONE’s 
Constitution and other relevant legislation 

•	 comply with APRA Prudential Standards, and 

•	 enhance Member value.

In order to meet these responsibilities, the key functions 
of the Board have been documented in a Board Charter 
which is contained in the Board Governance Policy. 
Details of the Board Governance Policy can be found 
in the Corporate Governance section of our website.

Composition of the Board
The Constitution of SERVICE ONE (the Constitution) 
stipulates that the Board consists of a minimum of 
five and no more than 10 Directors. At all times the 
Board must have no less than five elected Directors. 
The Constitution also allows the Board to appoint a 
Director for a 12-month term.

Directors’ profiles appear on pages 8 and 9. 

Subject to the following paragraphs, elected Directors 
serve a three year term and retire in rotation but may 
stand for re-election. Any Director appointed to fill a 
casual vacancy during the financial year must also have 
that appointment confirmed by a resolution of Members 
at that year’s AGM.

The Constitution provides that other than a Director 
who is a current Chair of the Board, a Director who has 
been a Director for 12 consecutive years ceases to be a 
Director at that time, subject only to a prior unanimous 
decision by the Board to extend (or support the 
extension of) that Director’s tenure. Such a unanimous 
resolution by the Board is to be made in the absence 
of the Director concerned.

In the case of a serving Chair the period above is 15 years.

Board processes
The Board generally meets monthly and more regularly 
if required.

The agenda for Board meetings is prepared by the Chair 
of the Board in conjunction with the Chief Executive.

The Board is of the view that the Board shall only 
comprise non-executive Directors. The Board has 
adopted the principle that it should comprise a majority 
of independent Directors and that its Chair should be an 
independent Director.

Board and Director 
performance evaluation
The Board has a formal process for evaluating the 
performance and skills of the Board. A fuller description 
of this process can be found in the Board Governance 
Policy on SERVICE ONE’s website. A formal evaluation 
of the performance and skills mix of the Board, its 
Committees, the Directors and the Chief Executive 
was carried out in accordance with the Board’s 
Policy requirements. 

Remuneration for Directors or the Chief Executive does 
not contain any component related to profit sharing 
or the issue of stock or options.

Director independence
The Board comprises only independent Directors. 
An independent Director being considered independent 
of management and free of any business or other 
relationship that could materially interfere with, or could 
reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with, the 
exercise of their unfettered and independent judgement. 
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Corporate Governance statement

However, the Constitution of SERVICE ONE stipulates 
that a Director has to be a Member of SERVICE ONE 
and in most cases that means a Director will have 
deposits and, possibly, loans with SERVICE ONE, which 
might compromise that independence. Details of loans 
to Directors and other Director related transactions are 
included in the annual Financial Report beginning on 
page 16.

Director access to professional advice
To assist in the effective discharge of their duties, 
Directors may, in consultation with the Chair, seek 
independent legal advice on their duties and 
responsibilities at the expense of SERVICE ONE and, 
in due course, make all Board members aware of both 
instructions to advisors and the advice obtained.

Director access to employees
Members of the Executive regularly attend Board 
meetings and Directors have unfettered direct access 
to the Executives of SERVICE ONE.

Board committees
The Board has three formally constituted standing 
committees to assist it in decision making, oversight 
and control:

•	 the Audit and Compliance Committee

•	 the Finance and Risk Committee, and

•	 the Corporate Governance Committee (which also 
acts as the Management Remuneration Committee).

In addition to the above standing committees the Board 
also establishes the following ad hoc committees from 
time-to-time and as necessary:

•	 a Director Remuneration Committee

•	 a Director Nominations Committee, and

•	 a Constitutional Review Committee. 

All committees have written Terms of Reference which 
are contained in the Board Committee Policy which 
can be found in the Corporate Governance section 
of our website.

Other than the Director Nominations Committee, 
membership of the committees comprises Directors with 
representatives of management attending committees 
as required. Membership of the Director Nominations 
Committee comprises two non-members (Robyn FitzRoy 
and Alexander Sala) as well as the Chair of the Board. 
In the years that the Chair is a candidate for election 
to the Board another Director is chosen by the Board 
as the third member of the committee.

The minutes of all Board Committee meetings are 
tabled, and any recommendations are considered at 
the next scheduled Board meeting. The memberships 
of Board Committees are detailed on page 7 and 
attendances at meetings are set out in the Directors’ 
Report on page 14. 

All Directors are entitled to attend all Board 
Committee meetings.

The Corporate Governance Committee
The Committee’s role is to monitor and review SERVICE 
ONE’s corporate governance policies and framework 
and recommend any changes designed to enhance 
compliance with the relevant obligations. Details of 
the Committee’s responsibilities are contained in the 
Board Committee Policy which can be found in the 
Corporate Governance section of our website.

Audit and Compliance Committee
The Committee’s role is to assist the Board by providing 
objective reviews of the effectiveness of SERVICE 
ONE’s adherence to APRA requirements, statutory 
and financial reporting processes, professional 
accounting requirements and oversight of internal and 
external audit functions. Details of the Committee’s 
responsibilities are contained in the Board Committee 
Policy which can be found in the Corporate Governance 
section of our website.

The external auditor of SERVICE ONE is Ernst & Young 
and they are represented at the AGM of SERVICE ONE 
and are available to take questions from Members. 

The internal audit is outsourced to 
PricewaterhouseCoopers, a firm of chartered 
accountants. 

The internal audit function operates under documented 
standards and procedures for auditing that set out the 
purpose, authority and responsibility of the internal 
audit function. The function of the internal audit is 
to provide an independent assessment of risk and 
compliance with internal controls. 

The Finance and Risk Committee
The Committee’s role is to oversee and monitor 
SERVICE ONE’s policies and procedures in relation 
to the management and control of the risks that 
SERVICE ONE faces in relation to its activities. Details 
of the Committee’s responsibilities are contained in 
the Board Committee Policy which can be found in 
the Corporate Governance section of our website.
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Internal control framework

Business risk identification 
and management
The Board monitors the operational and financial 
performance of SERVICE ONE against budget and 
other key performance measures through a structure 
of regular management reports to the Board and its 
committees. The Board also receives and reviews reports 
and advice on areas of operational and financial risk. 
The Audit and Compliance Committee reviews on an 
annual basis the adequacy of insurance coverage to 
mitigate certain operational risks of SERVICE ONE. 

SERVICE ONE has established controls at the Board, 
Executive and business unit levels that are designed to 
safeguard the interests of SERVICE ONE and ensure the 
integrity of reporting (including accounting, financial 
reporting, workplace health and safety, and other 
internal control policies and procedures). These controls 
are designed to ensure that SERVICE ONE complies with 
regulatory requirements and community standards. 

The Chief Executive and the Chief Finance Officer (CFO) 
provide the Board with statements about SERVICE ONE’s 
financial reports and compliance with the Corporations 
Act, APRA’s Prudential Standards and the Accounting 
Standards. The statements reflect the declarations 
required to be made by Directors in the Annual 
Financial Report.

The Chief Executive and CFO have provided the 
Board with statements that the financial reporting, risk 
management and associated compliance controls have 
been assessed and found to be operating efficiently and 
effectively. The operational and other risk management 
compliance controls have also been assessed and found 
to be operating efficiently and effectively. 

At least annually, formal performance appraisals are 
conducted for all employees. 

SERVICE ONE has an active Workplace Health and Safety 
Committee. That Committee comprises both managers 
and other employees. 

ethical standards
The core values of SERVICE ONE centre on improving 
the quality and efficiency of financial service delivery by 
providing products and services to help Members meet 
their financial goals. 

To this end, SERVICE ONE is committed to maintaining 
the highest ethical standards in delivering products and 
services to its Members. 

SERVICE ONE acknowledges that personal financial 
information is sensitive and subject to privacy legislation. 
To this end, SERVICE ONE is committed to ethical and 
appropriate practices and compliance with relevant 
privacy legislation. It has in place processes to maintain 
the expectations of the community and Members for 
the security, privacy and integrity of personal financial 
information. Where appropriate, SERVICE ONE aims to 
conduct its operations without needing to rely on the 
collection of personal financial information.

The Board has adopted Codes of Conduct, which set out 
the expectations for Directors and staff in their business 
affairs and in dealings with Members. The Codes of 
Conduct require high standards of personal integrity 
and honesty in all dealings, a respect for the privacy 
of Members and others, and observance of the law.

New staff members are provided with a copy of the Staff 
– Conduct & Monitoring Policy when they join SERVICE 
ONE and it is readily accessible online for existing staff 
members. The Board regularly reviews all its policies 
to ensure their continued relevance and effectiveness. 
Where necessary, at a Board meeting Directors report 
on any interest that could potentially conflict with those 
of SERVICE ONE and report on any Director related 
transactions in the Notes to the Annual Financial Report.

Communication with Members
The Board aims to ensure that Members are informed 
of all major developments affecting the state of affairs 
of SERVICE ONE. Information is communicated to 
Members as follows: 

•	 the Annual Report is distributed to all Members who 
request it and includes relevant information about 
the operations of SERVICE ONE during the year, 
changes in the state of affairs of SERVICE ONE and 
details of future developments, in addition to other 
disclosures required by the Corporations Act 2001 

•	 twice yearly a magazine is sent to all active Members 
of SERVICE ONE 

•	 when SERVICE ONE becomes aware of information 
which, in the view of the Board, requires Members to 
be notified a letter is sent to Members 

•	 SERVICE ONE regularly conducts surveys to determine 
the perceptions and feedback of Members 

•	 SERVICE ONE may, in some instances, communicate 
with Members via email should their details be 
available, and 

•	 the SERVICE ONE website contains information to 
keep Members informed of current events.
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Directors’ Report

DIReCtoRs’ RePoRt

Your Directors present their report, together with 
the financial statements of Service One Credit Union 
Limited (“the Credit Union”) and its consolidated entities 
(“the group”) for the year ended 30 June 2012.

Directors
The Directors of the Credit Union, in office during the 
year and at the date of this report are:

Mr Erik Adriaanse

Mr John Clarke 

Professor Jennifer Corbett 

Mr Ian Davis

Ms Heather Nash 

Mrs Deborah Robinson, and 

Mr Ivan Slavich.

Details of each Director’s qualifications, experience and 
special responsibilities are detailed on pages 8 and 9 of 
the Credit Union’s Annual Report.

Company secretaries as at 
30 June 2012
Peter L Carlin BA (Acctng) FCPA

Mr Carlin has been a Company Secretary and CEO of 
Service One Credit Union Limited for 11 years. Prior to 
holding this position he was Company Secretary and 
CEO of The Credit Union of Canberra for 6 years.

Mr Carlin has been a CPA for over 18 years.

Matthew D smith BComm CPA

Mr Smith has been a Company Secretary of Service One 
Credit Union Limited for 8 years and CFO of Service One 
Credit Union Limited for 11 years. Prior to holding this 
position he was CFO of The Credit Union of Canberra 
for 6 years.

Mr Smith has been a CPA for over 12 years.

Indemnifying an officer or auditor
No indemnities have been given or paid, during or since 
the end of the financial year, for any person who is or 
has been an officer or auditor of the Credit Union.

Insurance premiums have been paid to insure each 
of the Directors and Executive Officers of the Credit 
Union, against any costs and expenses incurred by 
them in defending any legal proceeding arising out 

of their conduct, while acting in their capacity as an 
officer of the Credit Union. The premiums relating to 
this insurance cannot be disclosed under the terms and 
conditions of this policy.

Principal activities
The principal activities of the Credit Union and the 
group during the financial year were the provision of 
retail financial services, insurance and other associated 
services to the Members of the Credit Union in 
accordance with the Constitution of the Credit Union.

There were no significant changes in the principal 
activities during the year.

operating results
The Net Profit, after income tax, for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2012 was $853,000 (2011: $790,000). 
This represents an 8% increase for the financial year.

In accordance with Rule 7.1 of the Constitution of the 
Credit Union, no dividends are payable.

Review of operations
The results of the Credit Union’s operations are as follows:

Reserves
An amount of $840,000 (2011: $756,000) was transferred 
to reserves and $13,000 (2011: $34,000) was transferred 
to capital. Members’ funds, representing reserves and 
capital, now total $21,559,000 (2011: $20,418,000).

Assets
Assets increased by 2% to $290,339,000 
(2011: $284,798,000).

Loans
Loan balances increased by 4% to $231,118,000 
(2011: $221,790,000).

Deposits
Deposit balances increased by 1% to $263,472,000 
(2011: $259,748,000).

Members
Shareholder numbers decreased by 8% to 30,924 
(2011: 33,664).
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significant changes in state of affairs
No matter or circumstance that has arisen since the 
end of the year has significantly affected or may 
significantly effect:

(i) the operations of the Credit Union

(ii) the results of those operations, or

(iii) the state of affairs of the Credit Union

in the financial years subsequent to this financial year.

Likely developments and results
Other than in the normal course of business, no 
significant developments are expected in the Credit 
Union’s operation in future financial years.

Rounding
The amounts contained in the financial statements 
have been rounded to the nearest one thousand 
dollars, in accordance with ASIC Class Order 98/100. 
The Credit Union is permitted to round to the nearest 
one thousand dollars ($’000) for all amounts except 
prescribed disclosures which are shown in whole dollars.

Directors’ meetings

 Board of Directors
Corporate 

Governance 
Committee 

Audit and 
Compliance 
Committee 

Finance and Risk 
Committee 

Joint Risk 
Workshop
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Erik Adriaanse 11 11   4 4 1 1 1 1

John Clarke 10 11 2 3 3 4   0 1

Jennifer Corbett 10 11 2 2 2 3   1 1

Ian Davis 11 11 2 2   3 3 1 1

Heather Nash 11 11 1 1 1 1 2 2 1 1

Deborah Robinson 11 11   1 1 2 2 1 1

Ivan Slavich 10 11 2 2   1 1 1 1

Directors’ benefits
No Director has received or become entitled to receive, 
during the financial year or since 30 June 2012, a benefit 
(other than benefits disclosed at Note 25 of the financial 
statements) by reason of a contract made by the Credit 
Union, or an entity within the Credit Union group, with 
the Director, a firm of which the Director is a member, 
or a company in which the Director has a substantial 
financial interest.

Audit independence
The Directors have been provided the Auditor’s 
Independence Declaration and that Declaration 
appears on the following page.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board 
of Directors.

J C Clarke e M Adriaanse 
Chair Chair – Audit and  
 Compliance Committee

Dated this 16th day of August 2012.
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Financial Report

stAteMent oF CoMPReHensIVe InCoMe

For the year ended 30 June 2012 notes  Consolidated service one Credit Union Ltd

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

Interest income 3 19,532 19,793 19,532 19,793

Interest expense 3 (8,655) (8,858) (8,655) (8,858)

Net interest income 3 10,877 10,935 10,877 10,935

Other operating income 4 3,397 3,402 3,397 3,402

Impairment losses on loans and advances 9 (c) (176) (270) (176) (270)

Other operating expenses 4 (12,982) (13,054) (12,908) (13,054)

Profit before income tax expense 1,116 1,013 1,190 1,013

Income tax expense 5 (263) (223) (263) (223)

Net profit after tax attributable to Members 853 790 927 790

Other comprehensive income

Profit on cash flow hedges taken to equity – 59 – 59

Transfer to income statement for loss on sale of 
cash flow hedges

22 6 22 6

Net gain on available-for-sale financial assets 389 – 389 –

Income tax on items of other comprehensive income (123) (18) (123) (18)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 288 47 288 47

Total comprehensive profit attributable to Members 1,141 837 1,215 837

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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stAteMent oF FInAnCIAL PosItIon

At 30 June 2012 notes             Consolidated service one Credit Union Ltd

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 6 4,738 9,329 4,738 9,329

Amounts due from other financial institutions 7 49,581 47,786 49,581 47,786

Accrued receivables 8 736 734 736 734

Loans and advances 9 231,118 221,790 231,118 221,790

Current tax receivables – 158 – 158

Available-for-sale equity investments 11 1,239 1,313 1,113 1,113

Property, plant and equipment 12 858 1,341 858 1,341

Intangibles 13 1,104 1,331 1,104 1,331

Deferred tax assets 5 435 439 435 439

Other 14 530 577 530 577

totAL Assets 290,339 284,798 290,213 284,598

LIABILItIes 

Payables to other financial institutions 15 36 42 36 42

Deposits and borrowings 16 263,832 259,748 263,832 259,748

Other financial liabilities 17 – 112 – 112

Trade and other payables 18 3,983 3,878 3,983 3,878

Current tax liability 126 – 126 –

Deferred tax liabilities 5 177 83 177 83

Provisions 19 626 517 626 517

totAL LIABILItIes 268,780 264,380 268,780 264,380

net Assets 21,559 20,418 21,433 20,218

MeMBeRs’ FUnDs

Reserves 21,109 19,981 20,983 19,781

Capital 450 437 450 437

totAL MeMBeRs’ FUnDs 21,559 20,418 21,433 20,218

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Financial Report

stAteMent oF CHAnGes In eqUItY

For the year ended 30 June 2012

ConsoLIDAteD

Cash Flow 
Hedge 

Reserve

Available- 
for-sale 
Reserve

Capital 
Redemption 

Account

Retained 
Profits

General 
Reserve 

for Credit 
Losses

General 
Reserve

total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Opening – 1st July 2010 (84) – 403 – 436 18,826 19,581

Profit for the year – – – 790 – – 790

Transfer to income statement for 
loss on sale of cash flow hedges

6 – – – – – 6

Other comprehensive income 41 – – – – – 41

Total comprehensive profit 
for the year

47 – – 790 – – 837

Transfer from/(to) general reserve – – – (756) – 756 –

Transfer from/(to) capital 
redemption reserve

– – 34 (34) – – –

Closing – 30th June 2011 (37) – 437 – 436 19,582 20,418

opening – 1st July 2011 (37) – 437 – 436 19,582 20,418

Profit for the year – – – 853 – – 853

Other comprehensive income 16 272 – – – – 288

Total comprehensive profit 
for the year

16 272 – 853 – – 1,141

Transfer from/(to) general reserve – – – (840) – 840 –

Transfer from/(to) capital 
redemption reserve

– – 13 (13) – – –

Closing – 30th June 2012 (21) 272 450 – 436 20,422 21,559
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stAteMent oF CHAnGes In eqUItY

For the year ended 30 June 2012

seRVICe one CReDIt  
UnIon LtD

Cash Flow 
Hedge 

Reserve

Available- 
for-sale 
Reserve

Capital 
Redemption 

Account

Retained 
Profits

General 
Reserve 

for Credit 
Losses

General 
Reserve

total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Opening – 1st July 2010 (84) – 403 – 436 18,626 19,381

Profit for the year – – – 790 – – 790

Transfer to income statement for 
loss on sale of cash flow hedges

6 – – – – – 6

Other comprehensive income 41 – – – – – 41

Total comprehensive profit 
for the year

47 – – 790 – – 837

Transfer from/(to) general 
reserve

– – – (756) – 756 –

Transfer from/(to) capital 
redemption reserve

– – 34 (34) – – –

Closing – 30th June 2011 (37) – 437 – 436 19,382 20,218

opening – 1st July 2011 (37) – 437 – 436 19,382 20,218

Profit for the year – – – 927 – – 927

Other comprehensive income 16 272 – – – – 288

Total comprehensive profit 
for the year

16 272 – 927 – – 1,215

Transfer from/(to) general 
reserve

– – – (914) – 914 –

Transfer from/(to) capital 
redemption reserve

– – 13 (13) – – –

Closing – 30th June 2012 (21) 272 450 – 436 20,296 21,433

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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stAteMent oF CAsH FLoWs

For the year ended 30 June 2012 notes             Consolidated service one Credit Union Ltd

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

CAsH FLoWs FRoM oPeRAtInG ACtIVItIes

Interest received 19,530 19,266 19,530 19,266

Interest costs (8,678) (8,976) (8,678) (8,976)

Fees and commissions received 2,947 2,963 2,947 2,963

Payments to suppliers and employees (11,598) (11,767) (11,598) (11,767)

GST paid (204) (210) (204) (210)

GST received 72 94 72 94

Dividends received 302 205 302 205

Income tax refunded 119 – 119 –

Miscellaneous receipts 141 234 141 234

Net cash flows from operating activities 20 (a) 2,631 1,809 2,631 1,809

CAsH FLoWs FRoM InVestInG ACtIVItIes 

Net increase in investments (1,523) (15,934) (1,523) (15,934)

Net (increase)/decrease in loans to Members (9,504) 295 (9,504) 295

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 14 20 14 20

Payments for intangibles, property, plant and 
equipment

(293) (696) (293) (696)

Net cash flows used in investing activities (11,306) (16,315) (11,306) (16,315)

CAsH FLoWs FRoM FInAnCInG ACtIVItIes

Net proceeds from securitisation activities 9 (a) – 15,027 – 15,027

Net increase/(decrease) in deposits from Members 3,724 (2,582) 3,724 (2,582)

Net cash flows from financing activities 3,724 12,445 3,724 12,445

Net decrease in cash held (4,951) (2,061) (4,951) (2,061)

Cash at beginning of year 9,329 11,390 9,329 11,390

CLosInG CAsH CARRIeD FoRWARD 20 (b) 4,378 9,329 4,378 9,329

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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notes to tHe FInAnCIAL stAteMents FoR tHe YeAR enDeD 30 JUne 2012

1. CoRPoRAte InFoRMAtIon
Service One Credit Union Ltd (the Credit Union) is a company 
incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The Members are 
the owners of the Credit Union. 

The Credit Union is a for-profit entity and the nature of the 
operations and principal activities of the Credit Union are 
described in the Directors’ Report.

The registered office is at 75 Denison Street Deakin ACT. 

The financial report of the Credit Union for the year ended 
30th June 2012 was authorised for issuance with a resolution 
of the Board of Directors on 16th August 2012.

2. sUMMARY oF sIGnIFICAnt 
ACCoUntInG PoLICIes

(a) Basis of Preparation

The general purpose financial report has been prepared 
in accordance with Australian equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS), the Corporations Act 
2001, applicable accounting standards and other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements. The financial report 
has also been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for 
derivative financial assets and liabilities and available-for-sale 
receivables from other financial institutions which have been 
measured at fair value.

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with industry 
standard and those of the previous year. 

The Statement of Financial Position is presented on a liquidity 
basis. Assets and liabilities are presented in decreasing order 
of liquidity and are not distinguished between current and 
non-current. Additional information regarding this is included 
in the relevant notes. 

The financial report is presented in Australian Dollars and 
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000), 
unless otherwise stated, under the option available to the 
Credit Union under ASIC class order 98/100. The Credit Union 
is an entity to which this class order applies.

(b) statement of Compliance

The financial report complies with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board. 

(c) new Accounting standards and Interpretations

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those 
of the previous financial year except as follows.

The Credit Union has adopted the following new and amended 
Australian Accounting Standards and AASB Interpretations as 
of 1 July 2011:

•	 AASB 124 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures 
(December 2009)

•	 AASB 2009–12 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards [AASB 5, 8, 108, 110, 112, 119, 133, 137, 139, 
1023 & 1031 and Interpretations 2, 4, 16, 1039 & 1052]

•	 AASB 1054 Australian Additional Disclosures

•	 AASB 2010–4 Further Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project [AASB 1, 7, 101 & 134 and 
Interpretation 13]

•	 AASB 2010–5 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 101, 107, 112, 118, 119, 
121, 132, 133, 134, 137, 139, 140, 1023 & 1038 and 
Interpretations 112, 115, 127, 132 & 1042]

•	 AASB 2010–6 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Disclosures on Transfers of Financial Assets 
[AASB 1 & 7]

•	 AASB 2011–1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman Convergence 
project [AASB 1, 5, 101, 107, 108, 121, 128, 132 & 134 
and Interpretations 2, 112 &113].

The adoption of the Standard or Interpretation is not deemed 
to have an impact on the financial statements or performance 
of the Credit Union.
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notes to tHe FInAnCIAL stAteMents FoR tHe YeAR enDeD 30 JUne 2012

2. sUMMARY oF sIGnIFICAnt ACCoUntInG PoLICIes (Cont)
Accounting standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet effective have not 
been adopted by the Credit Union for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2012:

Reference title summary

Application  
date of 
standard

nature of 
change to 
accounting 
policy

Application 
date for 
the group

AASB 
2011–9

Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – 
Presentation of Other 
Comprehensive Income 
[AASB 1, 5, 7, 101, 112, 
120, 121, 132, 133, 134, 
1039 & 1049]

This Standard requires entities to group items presented 
in other comprehensive income on the basis of whether 
they might be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 
and those that will not.

1 July 2012 The Credit 
Union is 
determining 
the impact, 
if any.

1 July 2012

AASB 9 Financial  
Instruments

AASB 9 includes requirements for the classification and 
measurement of financial assets resulting from the first 
part of Phase 1 of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 
(AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement). 

These requirements improve and simplify the approach 
for classification and measurement of financial assets 
compared with the requirements of AASB 139. The main 
changes from AASB 139 are described below. 

(a)  Financial assets are classified based on (1) the 
objective of the entity’s business model for 
managing the financial assets; (2) the characteristics 
of the contractual cash flows. This replaces the 
numerous categories of financial assets in AASB 139, 
each of which had its own classification criteria. 

(b)  AASB 9 allows an irrevocable election on initial 
recognition to present gains and losses on 
investments in equity instruments that are not 
held for trading in other comprehensive income. 
Dividends in respect of these investments that are 
a return on investment can be recognised in profit 
or loss and there is no impairment or recycling on 
disposal of the instrument. 

(c) Financial assets can be designated and measured at 
fair value through profit or loss at initial recognition 
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a 
measurement or recognition inconsistency that 
would arise from measuring assets or liabilities, 
or recognising the gains and losses on them, on 
different bases.

1 January 2013 The Credit 
Union is 
determining 
the impact, 
if any.

1 July 2013
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2. sUMMARY oF sIGnIFICAnt ACCoUntInG PoLICIes (Cont)

Reference title summary

Application 
date of 
standard

nature of 
change to 
accounting 
policy

Application 
date for 
the group

AASB 10 Consolidated 
Financial  
Statements 

AASB 10 establishes a new control model that applies 
to all entities. It replaces parts of AASB 127 Consolidated 
and Separate Financial Statements dealing with the 
accounting for consolidated financial statements and 
UIG–112 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities.

The new control model broadens the situations when 
an entity is considered to be controlled by another 
entity and includes new guidance for applying the 
model to specific situations, including when acting as 
a manager may give control, the impact of potential 
voting rights and when holding less than a majority 
voting rights may give control. 

Consequential amendments were also made to other 
standards via AASB 2011–7.

1 January 2013 No change to 
accounting 
policy 
required. 
Therefore 
no impact.

1 July 2013

AASB 11 Joint  
Arrangements

AASB 11 replaces AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures 
and UIG–113 Jointly-controlled Entities – Non-
monetary Contributions by Ventures. AASB 11 uses the 
principle of control in AASB 10 to define joint control, 
and therefore the determination of whether joint 
control exists may change. In addition it removes the 
option to account for jointly controlled entities using 
proportionate consolidation. Instead, accounting for 
a joint arrangement is dependent on the nature of the 
rights and obligations arising from the arrangement. 
Joint operations that give the ventures a right to 
the underlying assets and obligations themselves is 
accounted for by recognising the share of those assets 
and obligations. Joint ventures that give the venturers 
a right to the net assets is accounted for using the 
equity method. 

Consequential amendments were also made to 
other standards via AASB 2011–7 and amendments 
to AASB 128.

1 January 2013 No change to 
accounting 
policy 
required. 
Therefore 
no impact.

1 July 2013

AASB 12 Disclosure of 
Interests in 
Other Entities

AASB 12 includes all disclosures relating to an 
entity’s interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, 
associates and structures entities. New disclosures 
have been introduced about the judgements made 
by management to determine whether control exists, 
and to require summarised information about joint 
arrangements, associates and structured entities and 
subsidiaries with non-controlling interests.

1 January 2013 The Credit 
Union is 
determining 
the impact, 
if any.

1 July 2013
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2. sUMMARY oF sIGnIFICAnt ACCoUntInG PoLICIes (Cont)

Reference title summary

Application 
date of 
standard

nature of 
change to 
accounting 
policy

Application 
date for 
the group

AASB 13 Fair Value 
Measurement

AASB 13 establishes a single source of guidance for 
determining the fair value of assets and liabilities. 
AASB 13 does not change when an entity is required 
to use fair value, but rather, provides guidance on 
how to determine fair value when fair value is required 
or permitted. Application of this definition may result 
in different fair values being determined for the 
relevant assets.

AASB 13 also expands the disclosure requirements for 
all assets or liabilities carried at fair value. This includes 
information about the assumptions made and the 
qualitative impact of those assumptions on the fair 
value determined.

Consequential amendments were also made to other 
standards via AASB 2011–8.

1 January 2013 The Credit 
Union is 
determining 
the impact, 
if any.

1 July 2013

AASB 119 Employee  
Benefits

The main change introduced by this Standard is to 
revise the accounting for defined benefit plans. 
The amendment removes the options for accounting 
for the liability, and requires that the liabilities arising 
from such plans is recognised in full with actuarial gains 
and losses being recognised in other comprehensive 
income. It also revised the method of calculating the 
return on plan assets. 

The revised Standard changes the definition of 
short-term employee benefits. The distinction 
between short-term and other long-term employee 
benefits is now based on whether the benefits are 
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after 
the reporting date.

Consequential amendments were also made to other 
standards via AASB 2011–10. 

1 January 2013 No change to 
accounting 
policy 
required. 
Therefore 
no impact.

1 July 2013

AASB 
2009–11

Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards arising 
from AASB 9 
[AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 
101, 102, 108, 112, 
118, 121, 127, 128, 
131, 132, 136, 139, 
1023 & 1038 and 
Interpretations  
10 & 12]

These amendments arise from the issuance of AASB 9 
Financial Instruments that sets out requirements 
for the classification and measurement of financial 
assets. The requirements in AASB 9 form part of the 
first phase of the International Accounting Standards 
Board’s project to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement.

This Standard shall be applied when AASB 9 is applied.

1 January 2013 No change to 
accounting 
policy 
required. 
Therefore 
no impact.

1 July 2013
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2. sUMMARY oF sIGnIFICAnt ACCoUntInG PoLICIes (Cont)

Reference title summary

Application 
date of 
standard

nature of 
change to 
accounting 
policy

Application 
date for 
the group

AASB 
1053

Application of 
Tiers of Australian 
Accounting 
Standards

This Standard establishes a differential financial 
reporting framework consisting of two Tiers of 
reporting requirements for preparing general 
purpose financial statements:

(a) Tier 1: Australian Accounting Standards

(b)  Tier 2: Australian Accounting Standards  
 – Reduced Disclosure Requirements.

Tier 2 comprises the recognition, measurement and 
presentation requirements of Tier 1 and substantially 
reduced disclosures corresponding to those 
requirements.

The following entities apply Tier 1 requirements in 
preparing general purpose financial statements:

(a)  For-profit entities in the private sector that have 
public accountability (as defined in this Standard)

(b) The Australian Government and State, Territory 
and Local Governments.

The following entities apply either Tier 2 or Tier 1 
requirements in preparing general purpose financial 
statements:

(a) For-profit private sector entities that do not have 
public accountability

(b)  All not-for-profit private sector entities, public sector 
entities other than the Australian Government and 
State, Territory and Local Governments.

1 July 2013 No change to 
accounting 
policy 
required. 
Therefore 
no impact.

1 July 2013

AASB 
2010–2

Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards arising 
from reduced 
disclosure 
requirements

This Standard makes amendments to many 
Australian Accounting Standards, reducing the 
disclosure requirements for Tier 2 entities, identified 
in accordance with AASB 1053, preparing general 
purpose financial statements.

1 July 2013 No change to 
accounting 
policy 
required. 
Therefore 
no impact.

1 July 2013
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Reference title summary

Application 
date of 
standard

nature of 
change to 
accounting 
policy

Application 
date for 
the group

Annual 
Improvements 
2009–2011 
Cycle

Annual 
Improvements to 
IFRSs  
2009–2011 Cycle

This Standard sets out amendments to 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) and the related bases for conclusions and 
guidance made during the International Accounting 
Standards Board’s Annual Improvements process. 
These amendments have not yet been adopted 
by the AASB.

The following items are addressed by this Standard:

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial 
Reporting Standards

•	 Repeated application of IFRS 1 

•	 Borrowing costs

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

•	 Clarification of the requirements for 
comparative information

IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment 

•	 Classification of servicing equipment

IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation

•	 Tax effect of distribution to holders of 
equity instruments

IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting 

•	 Interim financial reporting and segment 
information for total assets and liabilities.

1 January 2013 The Credit 
Union is 
determining 
the impact, 
if any.

1 July 2013

AASB 2010–7 Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards arising 
from AASB 9 
(December 2010)
[AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 
7, 101, 102, 108, 
112, 118, 120, 
121, 127, 128, 131, 
132, 136, 137, 139, 
1023 & 1038 and 
Interpretations 2, 5, 
10, 12, 19 & 127] 

The requirements for classifying and measuring 
financial liabilities were added to AASB 9. The 
existing requirements for the classification of 
financial liabilities and the ability to use the fair 
value option have been retained. However, where 
the fair value option is used for financial liabilities 
the change in fair value is accounted for as follows:

•	 the change attributable to changes 
in credit risk are presented in other 
comprehensive income

•	  the remaining change is presented in 
profit or loss.

If this approach creates or enlarges an accounting 
mismatch in the profit or loss, the effect of the 
changes in credit risk are also presented in profit 
or loss.

1 January 2013 No change to 
accounting 
policy 
required. 
Therefore 
no impact.

1 July 2013
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Reference title summary

Application 
date of 
standard

nature of 
change to 
accounting 
policy

Application 
date for 
the group

AASB 
2011–2

Amendments 
to Australian 
Accounting 
Standards 
arising from the 
Trans-Tasman 
Convergence 
project – Reduced 
disclosure regime 
[AASB 101 & 1054]

This Standard makes amendments to the application 
of the revised disclosures to Tier 2 entities that are 
applying AASB 1053.

1 July 2013 No change to 
accounting 
policy 
required. 
Therefore 
no impact.

1 July 2013

(d) Cash and Cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the Statement of Financial Position 
comprise cash at bank and in hand. For the purposes of the 
Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents consists 
of cash on hand and in banks, and money market investments 
readily convertible to cash within 2 working days, net of 
outstanding bank overdrafts.

(e) Amounts Due From other Financial Institutions

Amounts due from other financial institutions consist of short 
term deposits and government bonds. 

Amounts due from other financial institutions are 
financial assets and are classified as loans and receivables, 
held-to-maturity investments, or available-for-sale investments, 
as appropriate. The Credit Union determines the classification 
of financial assets at initial recognition and, when appropriate, 
re-evaluates the classification at the end of each year.

The Credit Union does not run a trading book with the 
intention to profit from trading on the money market. 
Consequently, it does not classify debt instruments as 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. After initial measurement, such financial assets 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate (EIR) method, less impairment. Amortised cost is 
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on 
acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the 
EIR. Interest is accrued on a monthly basis and recognised when 
earned. The EIR amortisation is included in interest income in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The losses arising 
from impairment are recognised in the income statement in 
impairment losses.

Held-to-maturity investments

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments and fixed maturities are classified as held-to-
maturity when the Credit Union has the positive intention and 
ability to hold them to maturity. After initial measurement, 
held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised cost 
using the EIR, less impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by 
taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition 
and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. Interest is 
accrued on a monthly basis and recognised when earned. The 
EIR amortisation is included in interest income in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income. The losses arising from impairment 
are recognised in the income statement in impairment losses. 

During the year ended 30 June 2012 the Credit Union sold 
a significant amount of held-to-maturity investments before 
maturity and in accordance with AASB 139 the entire category 
has now been reclassified as available-for-sale investments. 
These investments will continue to be classified as available- 
for-sale until 30th June 2014.

Available-for-sale debt investments

Available-for-sale financial investments include equity 
investments and debt securities. The accounting policy for 
available-for-sale equity investments is described in Note 2 (s). 
Available-for-sale debt securities are those that would 
otherwise have been classified as held-to-maturity if that 
category had not been tainted by early sale as well as those 
debt securities that are intended to be held for an indefinite 
period of time and that may be sold in response to needs for 
liquidity or in response to changes in the market conditions.

After initial measurement, available-for-sale financial 
investments are subsequently measured at fair value with 
unrealised gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive 
income in the available-for-sale reserve until the investment 
is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is 
recognised in interest income, or the investment is determined 
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to be impaired, when the cumulative loss is reclassified from the 
available-for-sale reserve to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income in impairment losses. Interest earned whilst holding 
available-for-sale financial investments is reported as interest 
income using the EIR method. Interest is accrued on a monthly 
basis and recognised when earned.

(f) Loans and Advances

Loans and advances are financial assets with fixed and 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. These assets, including loans to key management 
personnel, are carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method, less allowance for impairment. Amortised 
cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or 
premium on acquisition and fees and costs that are an integral 
part of the effective interest rate.

The loan interest is calculated on the daily balance outstanding 
and is charged in arrears to a Member’s account monthly.

(g) Derivative Financial Instruments

The Credit Union enters into interest rate swap contracts for 
managing interest rate risk that arises from re-pricing gaps 
between assets and liabilities and does not enter into these 
swaps for speculative purposes. See Note 29 (d) for derivative 
financial instrument disclosures.

Interest rate swap contracts are recognised at fair value in the 
Statement of Financial Position. Any gains or losses arising from 
changes in the fair value of derivatives, except for those that 
qualify as cash flow hedges, are taken directly to the profit or 
loss for the year. Interest rate swap contracts are recognised as 
an asset when their value is positive and as a liability when their 
value is negative.

Hedge Accounting

For the purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as 
cash flow hedges when they hedge the exposure to variability 
in cash flows that is attributable either to a particular risk 
associated with a recognised asset or liability or to a forecast 
transaction that could affect profit or loss. 

The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument is recognised directly in equity, while the ineffective 
portion is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts taken to equity 
are transferred out of equity and included in the measurement 
of the hedged transaction when the forecast transaction occurs.

The Credit Union tests each of the designated cash flow 
hedges for effectiveness on a yearly basis using regression 
analysis. If the testing falls within the 80:125 range, the hedge 
is considered highly effective and continues to be designated 
as a cash flow hedge.

If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, 
amounts recognised in equity are transferred to the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or 
exercised without replacement or rollover, or if its designation 
as a hedge is revoked (due to it being ineffective), amounts 
previously recognised in equity remain in equity until the 
forecast transaction occurs.

(h) Property, Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less, where applicable, 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 
losses. Where lease agreements include a requirement to 
restore the site to its original condition, an estimate of those 
costs is included in leasehold improvements and depreciated 
over the lease term.

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, 
plant and equipment.

Major depreciation periods are:

2012 2011

•	 Leasehold improvements the lease term the lease term

•	 Plant, equipment and 
computer system

3 to 7 years 3 to 7 years

Impairment

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are 
reviewed for impairment at each reporting date, with the 
recoverable amount being estimated when events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be 
impaired. The recoverable amount of property, plant and 
equipment is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value 
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value 
of money and the risks specific to the asset.

For an asset that does not generate largely independent 
cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs, unless the 
asset’s value in use can be estimated to be close to its fair 
value. Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or 
cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. 
The asset or cash-generating unit is then written down to its 
recoverable amount.

For plant and equipment, impairment losses are recognised in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(i) Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost and following 
initial recognition, at cost less any accumulated amortisation 
and any accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets 
include the value of computer software. 

notes to tHe FInAnCIAL stAteMents FoR tHe YeAR enDeD 30 JUne 2012
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Intangible assets are amortised over their useful life on a 
straight-line basis and assessed for impairment whenever there 
is an indication that the intangible assets may be impaired.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either 
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are 
amortised over the useful life and assessed for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may 
be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation 
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life is 
reviewed at least at each financial year end. Changes in the 
expected useful life or expected pattern of consumption of 
future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted 
for by changing the amortisation period or method, as 
appropriate, which is a change in accounting estimates. 
The amortisation expense on intangibles with finite useful 
lives is recognised in profit or loss in the expense category 
consistent with the function of the intangible asset.

All recognised intangible assets have been assessed as having 
a finite useful life and the major amortisation periods are:

2012 2011

•	 Computer software 3 to 7 years 3 to 7 years

(j) Deposits and Borrowings

Deposits

All Member deposits are initially recognised at the fair value 
of the amount received. After initial recognition, deposits are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. 

Interest is calculated on the daily balance and posted to the 
accounts periodically, or on maturity of the term deposit. 
Interest on savings is brought to account on an accrual basis. 
The amount of the accrual is shown as part of trade and 
other payables.

Borrowings

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, 
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the 
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount 
is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income over 
the period of the loan and borrowings using the EIR method.

Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.

(k) employee Benefits

Wages, salaries, Annual Leave and sick Leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary 
benefits, annual leave and accumulated sick leave expected 

to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are 
recognised in other payables in respect of employees’ services 
up to the reporting date. They are measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Liabilities 
for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave 
is taken and are measured at the rates paid or payable. 

Long service Leave

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision 
for employee benefits and measured at the present value of 
expected future payments to be made in respect of services 
provided by employees up to the reporting date using a 
probability based assessment method. Consideration is given to 
expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee 
departures, and period of service. Expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the reporting date on bank 
bill swap rates with terms to maturity that match, as closely as 
possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

superannuation

Contributions are made by the Credit Union to an employee’s 
superannuation fund and are charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income as incurred.

(l) trade and other Payables

Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised 
cost and represent liabilities for goods and services provided 
to the Credit Union prior to the end of the financial year that 
are unpaid and arise when the Credit Union becomes obligated 
to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these 
goods and services. Trade liabilities are normally settled on 
30 day terms.

(m) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Credit Union has a 
present obligation (legal, equitable or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of the obligation.

When the Credit Union expects some or all of a provision to 
be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the 
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when 
the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to 
any provision is presented in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income net of any reimbursement. 

If the effect of time value of money is material, provisions are 
discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects the risks 
specific to the liability. 

When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to 
the passage of time is recognised as a borrowing cost.

notes to tHe FInAnCIAL stAteMents FoR tHe YeAR enDeD 30 JUne 2012
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(n) Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the entity and the revenue can 
be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria 
must also be met before revenue is recognised: 

Fees and Commissions

Loan fees are brought to account as income in the year of 
receipt. No loan fees were in excess of costs. Fee and commission 
income is recognised as revenue on an accrual basis.

Interest

For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost, 
interest income or expense is recorded in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income at the effective rate, which is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or 
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument 
or a shorter period where appropriate, to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset or financial liability.

Dividend Income 

Dividend income is recorded in non-interest income when the 
Credit Union’s right to receive the payment is established.

(o) Comparative Figures

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to 
conform with changes presented in these financial statements.

(p) operating Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains 
a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and 
requires an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the 
arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or 
assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. Operating lease incentives are recognised 
as a liability when received and subsequently reduced by 
allocating lease payments between rental expense and 
reduction of the liability.

(q) taxes

Income taxes

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior 
periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). The tax 
rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that 
are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at 
the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and 
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and 
unused tax losses can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed 
at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 
allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at 
each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it 
has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the 
deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at tax 
rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax 
laws) that have been enacted or subsequently enacted at the 
reporting date.

Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity 
are recognised in equity and not in profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only 
if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and 
liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the same 
taxation authority.

Goods and services tax (Gst)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of GST except:

•	 where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services 
is not recoverable from the ATO, in which case the GST is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset 
or as part of the expense item as applicable, and

•	 receivables and payables are stated with the amount of 
GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, 
the ATO is included as part of receivables or payables in the 
Statement of Financial Position. 

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a 
gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, 
or payable to, the ATO, are classified as operating cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the 
amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO.
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(r) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements are those of the 
consolidated entity, comprising the Credit Union and all entities 
that the Credit Union controlled from time-to-time during the 
year and at the reporting date. 

Information from the financial statements of subsidiaries is 
included from the date the parent company obtains control 
until such time as control ceases. Where there is loss of control 
of a subsidiary, the consolidated financial statements include 
the results for the part of the reporting period during which 
the parent company has control.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the 
same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent 
accounting policies. Adjustments are made to bring into line 
any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. 

All intercompany balances and transactions, including 
unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions, 
have been eliminated in full.

(s) Investments

Financial assets are classified as either financial assets at fair 
value through the profit and loss, loans and receivables,  
held-to-maturity investments, or available-for-sale investments, 
as appropriate. The Credit Union determines the classification of 
financial assets after initial recognition and, when appropriate, 
re-evaluates the classification at the end of each year.

All equity investments have been classified as available-for-sale 
investments as at the end of the year. The Credit Union’s 
accounting policies for debt instruments are described in 
Note 2 (e) and Note 2 (f). 

Available-for-sale investments are those non-derivative 
financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale or 
are not classified as financial assets at fair value, as a loan or 
receivable or as a held-to-maturity investment. After initial 
recognition available-for-sale investments are measured at 
fair value with gains or losses being recognised as a separate 
component of equity until the investment is derecognised or 
until the investment is determined to be impaired, at which 
time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity 
is recognised in profit or loss.

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in 
organised financial markets is determined by reference to 
quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the 
reporting date. For investments with no active market, 
fair value is determined using valuation techniques. Such 
techniques include using recent arm’s length market 
transactions, reference to current market value of another 
instrument that is substantially the same and discounted cash 
flow analysis. For investments in equity instruments that do not 

have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair 
value cannot be reliably measured, they are measured at cost.

(t) nature and Purpose of Members’ Funds

General Reserve

Any unappropriated profit/loss from the Credit Union’s 
operations is transferred to/from the General Reserve. 
The General Reserve contains amounts of retained profits 
that have been set aside by the Directors for the purpose 
of funding future operations of the Credit Union.

Asset Revaluation Reserve

Any fair value revaluation increments or decrements of 
non-current assets and available-for-sale investments are 
recorded in the Asset Revaluation Reserve.

Capital Redemption Account

Under the Corporations Act 2001 redeemable preference shares 
(Member shares) may only be redeemed out of profits or from 
a new share issue for the purposes of redemption. The Capital 
Redemption Account represents the shares redeemed by 
Members. Member shares for existing and new Members 
of the Credit Union are shown as liabilities.

General Reserve for Credit Losses

The general reserve for credit losses is based on as assessment of 
latent risks in the portfolio. This assessment takes into account 
historic losses, economic and market conditions. The general 
reserve for credit losses is then kept at the higher of this 
assessment and 0.5% of risk weighted credit risk assets.

(u) Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities

A financial asset is derecognised where:

•	 the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 
expired, or

•	 the Credit Union has transferred its rights to receive cash 
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay 
the received cash flows in full without material delay to a 
third party unless under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement, and

•	 either (a) the Credit Union has transferred substantially all 
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Credit Union 
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the 
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control 
of the asset.

When the Credit Union has transferred its rights to receive 
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor 
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to 
the extent of the Credit Union’s continuing involvement in 
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the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a 
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower 
of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum 
amount of consideration that the Credit Union could be 
required to repay.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under 
the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. Where an 
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same 
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an 
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange 
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original 
liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts 
is recognised in profit or loss.

(v) Impairment of Loans and Advances

The Credit Union assesses at each balance date whether there is 
any objective evidence that a loan and advance to a Member, or 
a group of loans and advances, is impaired. A loan and advance, 
or a group of loans and advances, is deemed to be impaired 
if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a 
result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset (an incurred ‘loss event’) and that 
loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future 
cash flows of the loans and advances or group of loans and 
advances that can be reliably estimated. Objective evidence 
of impairment may include indications that the borrower, 
or a group of borrowers is experiencing financial difficulty, 
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the 
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation and where observable data indicates that there 
is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, 
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate 
with defaults.

If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated 
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting 
the allowance account. 

Bad debts are written off when identified. Identification may 
include: bankruptcy, clearout or unlikelihood of recovery. If a 
provision for impairment has been recognised in relation to a 
loan, write offs for bad debts are made against the provision. 
If no provision for impairment has previously been recognised, 
write offs for bad debts are recognised as expenses in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(w) Renegotiated Loans and Advances

Where possible, the Credit Union seeks to restructure loans 
rather than to take possession of collateral. This may involve 
extending the payment arrangements and the agreement of 
new loan conditions. Once the terms have been renegotiated, 

the loan is no longer considered past due. Management 
continuously review renegotiated loans to ensure that all 
criteria are met and that future payments are likely to occur. 
The loans continue to be subject to an individual or collective 
impairment assessment, calculated using the loan’s original 
effective interest rate.

(x) significant Accounting Judgements, estimates, 
and Assumptions

In the process of applying the Credit Union’s accounting 
policies, management has used its judgement and made 
estimates in determining the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements. The most significant use of judgements 
and estimates are as follows: 

Classification of and Valuation of Investments

The Credit Union has decided to classify investments in unlisted 
securities as available-for-sale investments and movements in 
fair value are recognised directly in equity. The fair values of 
unlisted securities not traded in an active market are recorded 
at historical cost. 

Recovery of Deferred tax Assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary 
differences as management considers that it is probable 
that future taxable profits will be available to utilise those 
temporary differences. 

Impairment of non-Financial Assets

The Credit Union assesses impairment of all assets at each 
reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Credit 
Union and to the particular asset that may lead to impairment. 
These include product performance, technology, economic and 
political environments and future product expectations. If an 
impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset 
is determined. This involves value in use calculations, which 
incorporate a number of key estimates and assumptions.

Long service Leave Provision

Liability for long service leave is recognised and measured 
at the present value of the estimated future cash flows to 
be made in respect of all employees at the reporting date. 
In determining the present value of the liability, attrition 
rates and pay increases through promotion and inflation 
have been taken into account.

estimation of Useful Lives of Assets

The estimation of the useful lives of assets has been based on 
historical experience as well as manufacturers’ warranties (for 
plant and equipment) and lease terms (for leased equipment). 
In addition, the condition of the assets is assessed at least once 
per year and considered against the remaining useful life. 
Adjustments to useful life are made when considered necessary. 

notes to tHe FInAnCIAL stAteMents FoR tHe YeAR enDeD 30 JUne 2012

2. sUMMARY oF sIGnIFICAnt ACCoUntInG PoLICIes (Cont)
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Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are 
based on historical experience and other factors, including 
reasonable expectations of future events. Management 
believes the estimates used in preparing the financial report 
are reasonable. Actual results in the future may differ from 
those reported. 

Impairment of Loans and Advances

The Credit Union reviews its problem loans at each reporting 
date to assess whether an allowance for impairment should 
be recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
In particular, judgement by management is required in the 
estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when 
determining the level of allowance required. Such estimates 
are based on assumptions about a number of factors and actual 
results may differ, resulting in future changes to the allowance.

In addition to specific allowances against individually significant 
loans and advances, the Credit Union also makes a collective 
impairment allowance against exposures, which, although not 

specifically identified as requiring a specific allowance, have a 
greater risk of default than when originally granted. This takes 
into consideration factors such as any deterioration in industry, 
technological obsolescence, as well as identified structural 
weaknesses or deterioration in cash flows.

Make Good Provisions

A provision has been made for the present value of anticipated 
costs of future restoration of leased Branch premises. 
The provision includes future cost estimates associated 
with dismantling furniture and fittings. The calculation 
of this provision requires assumptions which may result 
in future actual expenditure differing from the amounts 
currently provided. The provision recognised for each Branch 
is periodically reviewed and updated based on the facts and 
circumstances available at the time. Changes to the estimated 
future costs for Branches are recognised in the Statement 
of Financial Position by adjusting both the expense or asset 
(if applicable) and provision.

3. InteRest InCoMe AnD InteRest eXPense

notes               Consolidated service one Credit Union Ltd

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

Interest income

Cash and cash equivalents 289 421 289 421

Amounts due from other financial institutions 2,370 2,026 2,370 2,026

Loans and advances 16,631 17,346 16,631 17,346

Gain on sale of held-to-maturity investment 7 242 – 242 –

19,532 19,793 19,532 19,793

Interest expense

Member deposits 8,577 8,803 8,577 8,803

Borrowings 54 28 54 28

8,631 8,831 8,631 8,831

Interest rate swaps   – change in fair value 

– interest expense

(112)

136

(256)

283

(112)

136

(256)

283

8,655 8,858 8,655 8,858

Net interest income 10,877 10,935 10,877 10,935

notes to tHe FInAnCIAL stAteMents FoR tHe YeAR enDeD 30 JUne 2012

2. sUMMARY oF sIGnIFICAnt ACCoUntInG PoLICIes (Cont)
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4. otHeR oPeRAtInG InCoMe AnD eXPenses

notes               Consolidated service one Credit Union Ltd

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

other operating income

Fees and commissions income

Loan fee income 549 527 549 527

Other fee income 1,959 1,985 1,959 1,985

Insurance commissions 233 246 233 246

Other commissions 206 205 206 205

2,947 2,963 2,947 2,963

other operating revenue

Bad debts recovered 29 25 29 25

Other 414 414 414 414

443 439 443 439

other operating income

Net gain from sale of plant and equipment 7 – 7 –

7 – 7 –

Other operating income 3,397 3,402 3,397 3,402
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notes               Consolidated service one Credit Union Ltd

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

other expenses

Depreciation

Plant and equipment 194 223 194 223

Leasehold improvements 398 430 398 430

Computer system 404 389 404 389

996 1,042 996 1,042

General and administration costs

Personnel – salaries and wages 4,791 5,004 4,791 5,004

Personnel – superannuation 482 455 482 455

Insurance, compliance and legal 274 241 274 241

Occupancy 287 295 287 295

Marketing 321 324 321 324

Printing, stationery and production 101 105 101 105

Cash delivery charges 79 78 79 78

Communications 307 300 307 300

Maintenance and support 464 491 464 491

Members’ transaction related costs 1,571 1,618 1,571 1,618

Rental – operating leases 1,248 1,267 1,248 1,267

Other 1,895 1,775 1,895 1,775

11,820 11,953 11,820 11,953

other provisions 

Provision for employee benefits 92 59 92 59

Net loss on sale of investment 74 – – –

Other expenses 12,982 13,054 12,908 13,054

notes to tHe FInAnCIAL stAteMents FoR tHe YeAR enDeD 30 JUne 2012

4. otHeR oPeRAtInG InCoMe AnD eXPenses (Cont)



3737

Financial Report

notes to tHe FInAnCIAL stAteMents FoR tHe YeAR enDeD 30 JUne 2012

5. InCoMe tAX

The major components of income tax are:

notes   Consolidated service one Credit Union Ltd

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

statement of Comprehensive Income

Current income tax

Current income tax expense (287) (137) (287) (137)

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years 6 9 6 9

Deferred income tax

Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences 18 (95) 18 (95)

Income tax expense reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (263) (223) (263) (223)

A reconciliation between tax (expense)/benefit and the product of accounting (loss)/profit before tax multiplied by the applicable 
tax rate is as follows:

Accounting profit/(loss) before income tax 1,116 1,013 1,190 1,013

Income tax at 30% (335) (304) (335) (304)

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous year 6 9 6 9

Recognition/de-recognition of temporary differences (20) 14 (20) 14

Rebatable dividend payments 91 62 91 62

Other non-deductible expenses (5) (4) (5) (4)

Income tax expense reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (263) (223) (263) (223)

Amounts recognised directly in equity

Net deferred expense recognised in equity (123) (18) (123) (18)

(123) (18) (123) (18)

Deferred income tax

Deferred tax liabilities

Asset revaluation reserve 117 – 117 –

Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes 45 68 45 68

Other receivables 15 15 15 15

177 83 177 83
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notes               Consolidated service one Credit Union Ltd

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

Deferred tax assets

Employee provisions 97 75 97 75

Provision for impairment 20 24 20 24

Other provisions 90 79 90 79

Swaps at fair value – 33 – 33

Accrued expenses 228 228 228 228

435 439 435 439

Franking credit balance

Franking account balance as at the end of the 
financial year adjusted for franking credit and 
debits from payment of income tax or receipt 
of dividends at the reporting date based on a 
tax rate of 30% (2011: 30%)

3,224 3,090

The Credit Union is prevented from paying dividends to Members by Rule 7.1 of the Constitution of the Credit Union, consequently, 
the Credit Union is not able to distribute franking credits to its Members. 

6. CAsH AnD CAsH eqUIVALents

Cash on hand and at banks 1,781 2,201 1,781 2,201

Deposits at call 2,957 7,128 2,957 7,128

4,738 9,329 4,738 9,329

Cash at bank and deposits at call earn interest at floating rates on a daily basis. These deposits are available within a maximum of two 
working days.

notes to tHe FInAnCIAL stAteMents FoR tHe YeAR enDeD 30 JUne 2012

5. InCoMe tAX (Cont)
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7. AMoUnts DUe FRoM otHeR FInAnCIAL InstItUtIons

              Consolidated service one Credit Union Ltd

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

Classified as held-to-maturity financial instruments

Interest bearing deposits with CUSCAL Ltd (CUSCAL) – 28,739 – 28,739

Bank accepted bills of exchange – 1,151 – 1,151

Government bonds – 10,384 – 10,384

– 40,274 – 40,274

Classified as available-for-sale financial instruments

Interest bearing deposits with CUSCAL Ltd (CUSCAL) 25,155 – 25,155 –

Bank accepted bills of exchange 1,191 – 1,191 –

Government bonds 5,522 – 5,522 –

31,868 – 31,868 –

Classified as loans and receivables financial instruments

Interest bearing deposits with CUSCAL Ltd (CUSCAL) 4,400 4,400 4,400 4,400

Term deposits with banks 13,313 3,112 13,313 3,112

17,713 7,512 17,713 7,512

total receivables due from other financial institutions

Interest bearing deposits with CUSCAL Ltd (CUSCAL) 29,555 33,139 29,555 33,139

Bank accepted bills of exchange 1,191 1,151 1,191 1,151

Term deposits with banks 13,313 3,112 13,313 3,112

Government bonds 5,522 10,384 5,522 10,384

49,581 47,786 49,581 47,786

Maturity analysis

Not longer than 3 months 22,627 23,665 22,627 23,645

Longer than 3 and not longer than 12 months 12,031 9,337 12,031 9,337

Longer than 1 and not longer than 5 years 14,923 14,784 14,923 14,784

49,581 47,786 49,581 47,786
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7. AMoUnts DUe FRoM otHeR FInAnCIAL InstItUtIons (Cont)

On 8th June 2012 the Credit Union sold a government bond classified as held-to-maturity 24 months before maturity.  
The bond had a book value at the date of sale of $5,119,797 and was sold for $5,361,450. The gain on this sale of $241,653 has 
been recognised as interest income, refer to Note 3. The Credit Union has assessed that this sale was significant to the total balance 
of held-to-maturity assets. 

Consequently, the Credit Union is required to reclassify all held-to-maturity assets to the available-for-sale category. All new 
investments that would otherwise be classified as held-to-maturity will continue to be classified as available-for-sale until 30 June 
2014. The value of the financial assets transferred to the available-for-sale category as at 30 June 2012 is as below:

Amortised cost of 
held-to-maturity financial 

assets reclassified to 
available-for-sale

Fair value of 
held-to-maturity financial 

assets reclassified to 
available-for-sale

$’000 $’000

Interest bearing deposits with CUSCAL Ltd (CUSCAL) 25,136 25,155

Bank accepted bills of exchange 1,191 1,191

Government bonds 5,152 5,522

31,479 31,868

All amounts due from other financial institutions classified as available-for-sale are measured at fair value. Interest is recognised 
in interest income using the effective interest method. Any difference between the fair value of the asset and the amortised 
cost calculated using the EIR method is treated as other comprehensive income and recognised directly in equity through 
the available-for-sale reserve net of tax. 

When a receivable due from other financial instrument classified as available-for-sale is sold any difference between fair value of 
the asset and the amortised cost of the asset at the time of sale is released from the available-for-sale reserve and recognised as 
interest income. 

8. ACCRUeD ReCeIVABLes

              Consolidated service one Credit Union Ltd

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

Interest receivable 736 734 736 734
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9. LoAns AnD ADVAnCes

notes               Consolidated service one Credit Union Ltd

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

Overdrafts 13,379 14,495 13,379 14,495

Mortgage loans 142,986 132,458 142,986 132,458

Other 74,820 74,916 74,820 74,916

Provision for impairment 9 (c) (67) (79) (67) (79)

Net loans and advances 231,118 221,790 231,118 221,790

(a) Maturity analysis 

Overdrafts 13,379 14,495 13,379 14,495

Not longer than 3 months 3,522 3,401 3,522 3,401

Longer than 3 and not longer than 12 months 9,595 9,353 9,595 9,353

Longer than 1 and not longer than 5 years 39,765 37,996 39,765 37,996

Longer than 5 years 164,857 156,545 164,857 156,545

Net loans and advances 231,118 221,790 231,118 221,790

On 22nd December 2010, $15,027,001 of variable interest rate mortgage secured loans were sold in a securitisation transaction to 
Integris Securitisation Services Pty Ltd (Integris). The Credit Union has been appointed to service the loans, which means the Credit 
Union will continue to manage the loans. In return for servicing the loans, the Credit Union receives a servicing fee from Integris.

The sale of the loans to Integris effectively transfers the risks and rewards of ownership and hence these loans have been derecognised 
from the Statement of Financial Position.

(b) Concentration of Risk

The loan portfolio of the Credit Union does not include any loan that represents 10% or more of capital.

There are no loans to Members concentrated to individuals employed in a particular industry.

Loans to Members are concentrated solely in Australia and principally in the Australian Capital Territory and Southern NSW.

Other loans and advances comprises mainly secured and unsecured personal loans.
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9. LoAns AnD ADVAnCes (Cont)

notes               Consolidated service one Credit Union Ltd

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

(c) Provision for impairment

specific provision

Opening balance

Overdrafts 6 19 6 19

Other loans 73 248 73 248

Total opening balance 79 267 79 267

Bad debts previously provided for written off during 
the year

Overdrafts (26) (43) (26) (43)

Other loans (148) (404) (148) (404)

Total bad debts previously provided for written off 
during the year

(174) (447) (174) (447)

Bad and doubtful debts provided for during the year 
for overdrafts and other loans

142 259 142 259

47 79 47 79

Closing balance

Overdrafts 3 6 3 6

Other loans 44 73 44 73

Total closing balance 47 79 47 79

The specific provision for impairment includes the provision required under the Prudential Standards at 30 June 2012, and a provision 
for specifically identified individual loans.
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9. LoAns AnD ADVAnCes (Cont)

notes               Consolidated service one Credit Union Ltd

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

Collective provision

Opening balance – – – –

Bad debts previously provided for written off during 
the year

– – – –

Bad and doubtful debts provided for during the year 
for overdrafts and other loans

20 – 20 –

Closing balance 20 – 20 –

total provision for impairment 67 79 67 79

Charge to Statement of Comprehensive Income for 
impairment losses on loans and advances comprises:

Specific provision 142 259 142 259

Collective provision 20 – 20 –

Items not specifically provided for and charged 
directly to the expense account 

14 11 14 11

total impairment losses on loans and advances 176 270 176 270

The policy for impaired loans and advances is set out in Note 2.

The specific provision for impairment includes the provision required under the Prudential Standards at 30 June 2012, and a provision 
for specifically identified individual loans.

At balance date there were no loans or advances classified as renegotiated.
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10. IMPAIRMent oF LoAns AnD ADVAnCes
The policy covering impaired loans and advances is set out in Note 2.

notes               Consolidated service one Credit Union Ltd

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

Impaired loans with specific provision for impairment

Balances with specific provisions for impairment 91 144 91 144

Specific provision for impairment (47) (79) (47) (79)

Net impaired loans with specific provision for 
impairment

44 65 44 65

Impaired loans without specific provision for impairment

Balance without specific provision for impairment 1,557 1,370 1,557 1,370

Net impaired loans 1,601 1,435 1,601 1,435

Impaired loans without specific provision for impairment includes $1,312,610 (2011: $1,120,390) of impaired mortgages where the 
Credit Union believes that the collateral held is sufficient to realise the full value of the loan.

11. AVAILABLe-FoR-sALe eqUItY InVestMents

Shares in Transaction Solutions Pty Ltd – at cost 229 229 229 229

Shares in CUSCAL – at cost 884 884 884 884

Investment in Australian Capital Fund Pty Ltd 
 – at cost

126 126 – –

Investment in ACV Investment Trust Number 1 
 – at cost

– 74 – –

29 (d) 1,239 1,313 1,113 1,113

(a) Unlisted shares

No active market exists for equity investments in Transaction Solutions Pty Ltd and CUSCAL. Their fair value cannot be reliably 
measured, as a result these investments are measured at cost.

The financial reports of the above entities have a net tangible asset backing per shares which exceeds their cost value. Based on 
the net assets of the entities, any fair value determination of these shares is likely to be greater than the cost value, but due to the 
absence of a ready market and restrictions on the ability to transfer the shares, a market value is not able to be determined.

The Credit Union is not intending, nor able to dispose of these shares without a majority of shareholder approval. During the year 
the assets of ACV Investment Trust Number 1, shares in TransACT Capital Communications Pty Ltd, were sold for a consideration 
of nil, after costs, resulting in a loss on sale included in Note 4 operating expenses.
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11. AVAILABLe-FoR-sALe eqUItY InVestMents (Cont)

(b) other available-for-sale investments

No active market exists for investments in Australian Capital Fund Pty Ltd or ACV Investment Trust Number 1 and so their fair 
value cannot be reliably measured. As a result, these investments are measured at cost.

Investment in controlled entity

Investment in controlled entity comprises:

name Country of incorporation
Percentage of equity interest 
held by the economic entity Value of shares held

2012 
%

2011 
%

2012 
$

2011 
$

CUC No 1 Pty Ltd Australia

– ordinary shares 100 100 2 2

12. PRoPeRtY, PLAnt AnD eqUIPMent

notes               Consolidated service one Credit Union Ltd

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

Leasehold improvements

At cost 2,067 2,342 2,067 2,342

Provision for depreciation (1,485) (1,376) (1,485) (1,376)

Total leasehold improvements 582 966 582 966

Plant and equipment

At cost 1,038 1,208 1,038 1,208

Provision for depreciation (762) (833) (762) (833)

Total plant and equipment 276 375 276 375

Total written down value 858 1,341 858 1,341
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12. PRoPeRtY, PLAnt AnD eqUIPMent (Cont)

notes               Consolidated service one Credit Union Ltd

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

Reconciliation of carrying amount of property, plant and equipment for the financial year

Leasehold improvements

Carrying amount at beginning of year 966 1,056 966 1,056

Additions 14 340 14 340

Depreciation (398) (430) (398) (430)

Carrying amount at end of year 582 966 582 966

Plant and equipment

Carrying amount at beginning of year 375 466 375 466

Additions 102 152 102 152

Disposals (7) (20) (7) (20)

Depreciation (194) (223) (194) (223)

Carrying amount at end of year 276 375 276 375

Property, plant and equipment are subject to:

a) fixed and floating charge to secure credit facilities provided by CUSCAL.

b) a floating charge executed under the Emergency Liquidity Support System to secure an advance that may be made to the 
Credit Union under the Scheme.

The Credit Union believes that the fair value of items of the property, plant and equipment is not materially different to the carrying amount. 
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13. IntAnGIBLes

notes               Consolidated service one Credit Union Ltd

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

Computer software at cost 2,415 2,246 2,415 2,246

Provision for amortisation (1,311) (915) (1,311) (915)

Total written down value 1,104 1,331 1,104 1,331

Reconciliation of carrying amount of intangibles for the financial year

Carrying amount at beginning of year 1,331 1,516 1,331 1,516

Additions 177 204 177 204

Amortisation (404) (389) (404) (389)

Carrying amount at end of year 1,104 1,331 1,104 1,331

14. otHeR Assets

Prepayments 86 98 86 98

Other 444 479 444 479

530 577 530 577

Other assets include $190,846 of deferred expenses relating to the setup of a securitisation program with Integris Securitisation Services 
Pty Ltd. This asset is being amortised over a period of five years. Refer to Note 9 (a) for a description of the initial securitisation transaction.

15. PAYABLe to otHeR FInAnCIAL InstItUtIons

Other Credit Union payables 36 42 36 42

16. DePosIts AnD BoRRoWInGs

Call deposits 138,719 136,738 138,719 136,738

Term deposits 124,753 123,010 124,753 123,010

263,472 259,748 263,472 259,748

Borrowings 16 (b) 360 – 360 –

263,832 259,748 263,832 259,748
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16. DePosIts AnD BoRRoWInGs (Cont)

notes               Consolidated service one Credit Union Ltd

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

(a) Deposits

Maturity analysis

At call 138,719 136,738 138,719 136,738

Not longer than 3 months 50,318 56,641 50,318 56,641

Longer than 3 and not longer than 12 months 59,947 53,347 59,947 53,347

Longer than 1 and not longer than 5 years 14,488 13,022 14,488 13,022

263,472 259,748 263,472 259,748

Included in call deposits above is an amount of $284,569 (2011: $290,185) representing Member shares. These shares are 
withdrawable by Members on resignation from the Credit Union.

Concentration of deposits

The Credit Union’s deposit portfolio does not include any deposit that represents 10% or more of total liabilities.

Member deposits were predominantly received from individuals employed in Australia. There are no significant groups of 
Members concentrated in any particular industry.

(b) Borrowings

Unsecured

Bank overdrafts – other financial institution 360 – 360 –

Total borrowings 360 – 360 –

Credit facilities provided by CUSCAL are secured by a fixed and floating charge over all of the assets and undertakings of the Credit Union.

Maturity analysis

Not longer than 3 months 360 – 360 –

360 – 360 –
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17. otHeR FInAnCIAL LIABILItIes

notes               Consolidated service one Credit Union Ltd

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

Interest rate swaps – at fair value – 112 – 112

– 112 – 112

(a) Instruments used by the Credit Union

Interest rate swaps are used by the Credit Union to manage interest rate risk that arises from re-pricing gaps between assets and 
liabilities and the Credit Union does not enter into these swaps for speculative purposes. 

(b) Cash flow hedges

The interest rate swaps require settlement of net interest receivable or payable between 90 and 180 days. The settlement dates 
coincide with the dates on which interest is payable on the underlying liability. All swaps are matched directly against the appropriate 
Member deposits and interest expense and as such are considered highly effective. They are settled on a net basis. The swaps are 
measured at fair value and all gains and losses attributable to the hedged risk are taken directly to equity and re-classified into the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income when the interest expense is recognised.

Movement in interest rate swaps cash flow hedge reserve

Opening balance (37) (84) (37) (84)

Charged to other comprehensive income – 41 – 41

Transfer to the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
for loss on sale of cash flow hedges

16 6 16 6

Closing balance (21) (37) (21) (37)

Cash flow hedging ineffectiveness recognised 
immediately in the Statement of Comprehensive Income

– – – –

18. PAYABLes

Trade creditors 232 320 232 320

Employee benefits

Annual Leave 358 394 358 394

Accrued salaries, wages and on costs 85 98 85 98

Accrued interest payable 2,706 2,633 2,706 2,633

Other creditors 602 433 602 433

3,983 3,878 3,983 3,878

Due to the short term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.
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19. PRoVIsIons

notes               Consolidated service one Credit Union Ltd

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

Employee benefits

Long service leave 325 252 325 252

Make good on leased premises 301 265 301 265

626 517 626 517

Provision for make good

Carrying amount at beginning of year 265 261 265 261

Arising during the year – 48 – 48

Used during the year – (18) – (18)

Unused amounts reversed – (36) – (36)

Discount rate adjustments 36 10 36 10

Carrying amount at end of year 301 265 301 265

In accordance with Branch and ATM lease agreements the Credit Union must restore the leased premises to their original condition 
before the expiry of the lease term.

During the year, no Branch leases were renewed and as a result no provision was used or reversed.

Because of the long-term nature of the liability, the uncertainty in estimating the provision and the costs that will ultimately be incurred, 
the provision has been discounted using bank bill swap rates that match as closely as possible the remaining term of each lease agreement.

20. stAteMent oF CAsH FLoWs

(a)  Reconciliation of the operating profit after tax to the net cash flows from operations

Profit from ordinary activities after tax 853 790 927 790

Charge for bad and doubtful debts 176 270 176 270

Depreciation and amortisation 996 1,042 996 1,042

Gain on disposal of plant and equipment (7) – (7) –

Loss on disposal of investment 74 – – –

Changes in assets and liabilities

Interest receivable (2) (527) (2) (527)

Other receivables 41 (89) 41 (89)

Provisions and payables 468 231 468 231

Other assets and liabilities 32 92 32 92

Net cash flows from operating activities 2,631 1,809 2,631 1,809
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20. stAteMent oF CAsH FLoWs (Cont)

notes               Consolidated service one Credit Union Ltd

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

(b) Reconciliation of cash

Cash balance comprises:

Cash 1,781 2,201 1,781 2,201

Other short-term liquid assets 2,957 7,128 2,957 7,128

Bank overdraft (360) – (360) –

Closing cash balance 4,378 9,329 4,378 9,329

(c) Cash flows presented on a net basis

Cash flows arising from the following activities are presented on a net basis in the Statement of Cash Flows:

(i) Member deposits to and withdrawals from deposit accounts

(ii) Borrowings and repayments on loans to Members, and

(iii) Sales and purchases of investments.

(d) Bank overdraft and loan facilities

The Credit Union has an overdraft facility available to the extent of $4,000,000 and pre-approved loan facility of $6,000,000. Both 
credit facilities are provided by CUSCAL and are secured by a fixed and floating charge over the assets and undertakings of the Credit 
Union. At balance date, both the bank overdraft and the pre-approved loan facility were unused (2011: both the bank overdraft and 
the pre-approved loan facility were unused). At 30th June 2012 the bank overdraft represents the value of un-presented cheques.

21. eXPenDItURe CoMMItMents

Lease expenditure commitments

Operating leases (non-cancellable)

not later than 1 year 1,191 1,180 1,191 1,180

later than 1 and not later than 5 years 2,868 3,374 2,868 3,374

later than 5 years 66 609 66 609

Aggregate lease expenditure contracted for at 
balance date

4,125 5,163 4,125 5,163

Non-cancellable operating leases are for Branch and Head Office premises with lease terms for up to 10 years. The leases have an 
allowance for CPI increments and options for renewal ranging from 1 to 10 years.
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22. eMPLoYee BeneFIts AnD sUPeRAnnUAtIon CoMMItMents

notes               Consolidated service one Credit Union Ltd

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

employee benefits 

The aggregate employee benefits liability is  
comprised of: 

Accrued wages, annual leave, salaries and on costs  
(recognised as part of payables at Note 18)

443 492 443 492

Provisions for long service 19 325 252 325 252

768 744 768 744

superannuation commitments

All employees are entitled to varying levels of benefits on retirement, disability or death. Employees contribute to the plans at various 
percentages of their wages and salaries. The Credit Union also contributes to the plans, at the rates between 9% and 13.5% of 
employees’ salaries. Contributions by the Credit Union of up to 9% of employees’ wages and salaries are legally enforceable in Australia.

number of employees

The number of full-time equivalent employees at the end of the year was 72 (2011: 84).

23. ContInGent LIABILItIes AnD CReDIt CoMMItMents

Credit related commitments

Binding commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to Members as long as there is no violation of any condition established 
in the contract. Since some of the commitments are expected to expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do 
not necessarily represent future cash requirements.

Credit limits undrawn 14,845 13,817 14,845 13,817

Approved but undrawn loans 1,253 1,329 1,253 1,329

16,098 15,146 16,098 15,146

The Credit Union has issued a floating charge over all assets of the Credit Union. This has been executed under the Emergency 
Liquidity Support System to secure any advances that may be made to the Credit Union under the Scheme.

As at 30th June 2012 there were no contingent liabilities.

24. sUBseqUent eVents
There has been no transaction or event of a material or unusual nature likely to affect the operation of the Credit Union, the results of 
those operations or the state of affairs of the Credit Union.
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25. KeY MAnAGeMent PeRsonneL

(a) Details of key management personnel

The Directors of the Credit Union during the year were:

Mr E M Adriaanse
Mr J C Clarke (Chair)
Professor J Corbett
Mr I Davis
Ms H Nash
Mrs D Robinson, and
Mr I Slavich.

The Executives of the Credit Union during the year were:

Mr P L Carlin Chief Executive
Mr M D Smith Chief Finance Officer
Ms A Storti General Manager – Retail, and
Mr T Brown Head of Risk and Compliance.

See Note 25 (c) for disclosure on loans to key management personnel.

notes               Consolidated service one Credit Union Ltd

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

(b) Key management personnel compensation 

Short-term employee benefits 996,212 1,036,992 996,212 1,036,992

Post-employment benefits 167,841 106,339 167,841 106,339

1,164,053 1,143,331 1,164,053 1,143,331

(c) Loans to key management personnel

Loans have been made to key management personnel and spouses on terms and conditions no more favourable than those available 
on similar transactions to Members of the Credit Union.

The terms and conditions in respect of all loans to key management personnel have not been breached.

Aggregate amount outstanding at balance date 169,318 251,596 169,318 251,596

Aggregate amount of repayments received during 
the financial year

31,723 45,120 31,723 45,120

Key management personnel concerned:

Mr T Brown, Mr P Carlin.

Aggregate amount of approved overdraft facilities 16,000 20,000 16,000 20,000

Aggregate amount drawn against overdraft facilities 4,819 – 4,819 –
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26. AUDItoR’s ReMUneRAtIon

notes               Consolidated service one Credit Union Ltd

2012 
$

2011 
$

2012 
$

2011 
$

Amounts received or due and receivable by Ernst & Young for:

an audit of the financial statements of the entity 
and any other entity in the consolidated entity

    –  current year 90,000 85,000 90,000 85,000

tax services in relation to the entity 13,940 17,545 13,940 17,545

advisory services in relation to a securitisation 
transaction

– 29,291 – 29,291

103,940 131,836 103,940 131,836

27. eConoMIC DePenDenCY
The Credit Union has an economic dependency on:

CUSCAL, which supplies the Credit Union rights to Visa Card in Australia and provides services in the form of settlement with bankers 
for ATM and Visa Card transactions, and the production of Visa and rediCARDs for its Members. It also provides treasury and money 
market facilities to the Credit Union.

First Data Corporation Ltd, which operates the switching computer used to link rediCARDs operated through rediATM and other 
ATM suppliers to the Credit Union’s computer system.

Transaction Solutions Pty Ltd, which operates the computer facility on behalf of the Credit Union in conjunction with other Credit Unions.

Ultradata Australia Pty Ltd, which provides core-banking software to the Credit Union for the processing of all Member accounts 
and related activities.

28. ReLAteD PARtY DIsCLosURes
See Note 25 (c) for disclosure on loans and compensation payments made to key management personnel. There have been no other 
transactions with related parties.

shareholding

Each Director and Executive holds one $10 redeemable preference share in the Credit Union.

29. FInAnCIAL InstRUMents

(a) Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair value of financial assets 
and liabilities.

The Board of the Credit Union has in place a market risk management policy which sets limits on the exposure to interest rate 
risk. The Credit Union actively manages the exposure through Statement of Financial Position techniques and may use derivative 
instruments such as interest rate swaps if it is likely that policy limits would be exceeded.

The Credit Union enters into interest rate swap agreements for the sole purpose of managing interest rate exposures on the 
Statement of Financial Position and not for trading purposes.

At the reporting date, the Credit Union had the following mix of financial assets and liabilities exposed to Australian variable interest 
rate risk that are not designated in cash flow hedges:
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29. FInAnCIAL InstRUMents (Cont)

notes               Consolidated service one Credit Union Ltd

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

Financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 4,738 9,329 4,738 9,329

Amounts due from other financial institutions – – – –

Loans and advances 148,889 159,885 148,889 159,885

153,627 169,214 153,627 169,214

Financial liabilities

Deposits and borrowings 139,079 136,738 139,079 136,738

139,079 136,738 139,079 136,738

Net exposure 14,548 32,476 14,548 32,476

The Credit Union employs techniques such as gap analysis and sensitivity analysis to determine its exposure to interest rate risk. 
Sensitivity analysis is conducted on a quarterly basis using a 2% shift in the yield curve to determine the potential change in the 
market value of equity. The Board of the Credit Union has set limits on the exposure expressed as a percentage of capital. For market 
risk sensitivity analysis the Credit Union uses the APRA Prudential Standards definition of capital.

When conducting the analysis it is assumed that transactional call deposits re-price evenly to a maximum of three years, other call deposits 
are assumed to re-price daily. A negative figure indicates a decrease in the market value of equity, a positive value indicates an increase.

The following sensitivity analysis is based on interest rate risk exposures in existence as at the reporting date:

2012 
As % of capital

2011 
As % of capital

Market value of equity – sensitivity to a 2% fall in interest rates 1.84 2.71

$’000 $’000

Profit and loss – sensitivity to a 2% fall in interest rates (343) (476)

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Credit Union, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, 
loans receivable, available-for-sale financial assets and derivative instruments. The Credit Union’s exposure to credit risk arises from 
potential default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure (excluding the value of any collateral or other security) equal to the 
carrying amount of the financial assets (as outlined in each applicable note).

Loan receivables

Credit risk in loans receivable is managed in the following ways:

•	 a risk assessment process is used for all Members, and

•	 where a loan to value ratio exceeds policy limits on mortgage secured loans, mortgage guarantee insurance is taken.

Risk of losses from loans receivable is primarily reduced by the nature and quality of security taken.
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29. FInAnCIAL InstRUMents (Cont)
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis, including monitoring of critical assessment policies being followed 
and compliance with Board risk limits.

Concentrations of credit risk, where applicable, are identified in the notes to the relevant financial assets.

Collateral

The type and value of collateral required is dependent on the Credit Union’s internal policy limits and an assessment of the credit risk 
of the Member. The Credit Union’s policy stipulates acceptable types of collateral and the valuation requirements for each.

The main types of collateral used are mortgages over real estate and bills of sale over motor vehicles. Estimates of fair value are based 
on the value established at the time of borrowing and are not updated except where a loan is assessed as impaired.

Collateral taken as part of a collection process on impaired loans is disposed using an independent auction process with proceeds used 
to reduce or repay the outstanding loan. The Credit Union does not use repossessed collateral for its own business use.

Analysis of past due but not impaired loans

type Less than 30 days         31 to 60 days         61 to 90 days More than 90 days          total

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

Personal 632 668 – – – – – – 632 668

Mortgage 3,158 1,845 – – – – – – 3,158 1,845

Overdraft 566 669 – – – – – – 566 669

4,356 3,182 – – – – – – 4,356 3,182

Impairment Assessment

The Credit Union assesses loan impairment on both an individual and a collective basis. On an individual basis, a loan is classified as 
impaired where a payment is overdue more than 90 days or there is doubt over the collectability of future cash flows because of 
known difficulties or non-compliance with the terms and conditions of the contract. Refer to Note 10 for impairment of loans and 
advances disclosure. 

On a collective basis, an assessment is made of the latent risks inherent in the portfolio. This assessment takes into account historic 
losses, economic and market conditions. The general reserve for credit losses is then kept at the higher of this assessment and 0.5% 
of risk weighted credit risk assets.

other financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

The Credit Union’s policy is to place investments with counterparties to meet the “high quality liquid assets” requirements of 
Prudential Standard APS 210 Liquidity. Investments that qualify as “high quality liquid assets” are defined at Note 29 (c).

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Credit Union will not be able to meet its payment obligations when they fall due.

APRA Prudential Standards require the Credit Union to hold a minimum of 9% of its liabilities in specified high quality liquid assets. 
The Credit Union’s internal policy requires a minimum ratio well above the 9% limit specified in the Prudential Standards. High quality 
liquid assets comprise cash, bank bills and certificates of deposit rated at investment grade and must be convertible into cash within 
two business days.

The Credit Union does not take a position on interest rate movements but places high quality liquid investments to match the maturity 
structure of its liabilities.

The following liquidity risk disclosures reflect all contractually fixed pay-offs, repayments and interest resulting from recognised financial 
liabilities and financial guarantees as of 30 June 2012. For the other obligations the respective undiscounted cash flows for the respective 
upcoming fiscal years are presented. The timing of cash flows for liabilities is based on the contractual terms of the underlying contract.

However, where the counterparty has a choice of when the amount is paid, the liability is allocated to the earliest period in which the 
Credit Union can be required to pay. When the Credit Union is committed to make amounts available in instalments, each instalment 
is allocated to the earliest period in which the Credit Union is required to pay. 
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29. FInAnCIAL InstRUMents (Cont)
The risk implied from the values shown in the table below, reflects a balanced view of cash inflows and outflows of non-derivative 
financial instruments. Liquid non-derivative assets comprising cash and receivables are considered in the Credit Union’s overall liquidity 
risk. The Credit Union ensures that sufficient liquid assets are available to meet all the required short-term cash payments.

Year ended 30 June 2012
< 3 months 

$’000
3–12 months 

$’000
1–5 years 

$’000
> 5 years 

$’000
total 
$’000

Financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 4,738 – – – 4,738

Amounts due from other financial institutions 22,627 12,031 14,923 – 49,581

Loans and advances 16,901 9,595 39,765 164,857 231,118

44,266 21,626 54,688 164,857 285,437

Financial liabilities

Deposits and borrowings 189,397 59,947 14,488 – 263,832

189,397 59,947 14,488 – 263,832

Net (outflow)/inflow (145,131) (38,321) 40,200 164,857 21,605

Year ended 30 June 2011
< 3 months 

$’000
3–12 months 

$’000
1–5 years 

$’000
> 5 years 

$’000
total 
$’000

Financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 9,329 – – – 9,329

Amounts due from other financial institutions 23,665 9,337 14,784 – 47,786

Loans and advances 17,896 9,353 37,996 156,545 221,790

50,890 18,690 52,780 156,545 278,905

Financial liabilities

Deposits and borrowings 193,379 53,347 13,022 – 259,748

Other financial liabilities 36 76 – – 112

193,415 53,423 13,022 – 259,860

Net (outflow)/inflow (142,525) (34,733) 39,758 156,545 19,045

Maturity analysis for derivative financial liabilities based on their remaining contractual maturities is shown in below:

Fixed for floating interest rate swap contracts.

                    Average interest rate                       Fair Value notional principal amount

2012 
%

2011 
%

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

Less than 1 year – 7.69 – (112) – 5,500

1 to 2 years – – – – – –

2 to 5 years – – – – – –

– (112) – 5,500
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notes to tHe FInAnCIAL stAteMents FoR tHe YeAR enDeD 30 JUne 2012

29. FInAnCIAL InstRUMents (Cont)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value movements

notes                 Consolidated service one Credit Union Ltd

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

Opening balance 1,313 1,380 1,113 1,180

Purchases – – – –

Sales (74) (67) – (67)

Closing balance 1,239 1,313 1,113 1,113

(e) Capital management

The Credit Union monitors the adequacy of its capital based on the requirement of APRA Prudential Standards.

APRA Prudential Standards require the Credit Union to maintain a minimum of 8% of capital to risk weighted assets at all times. 
The Credit Union’s internal policy target ratio is well above the Prudential Standard limit and includes elements for risk exposures 
such as market, operations, and credit risk. The Credit Union’s capital adequacy ratio exceeded APRA’s minimum requirements at all 
times during the year.

The Credit Union conducts an annual risk assessment and based on the outcome of this assessment, capital levels are adjusted accordingly.

Regulatory Capital                       Actual                     Required

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

Tier 1 capital 18,692 17,574 11,263 11,126

Tier 2 capital – – – –

Total capital 18,692 17,574 11,263 11,263

Risk weighted assets 125,145 123,623

Tier 1 capital ratio 14.94% 14.22%

Total capital ratio 14.94% 14.22%

Regulatory capital consists of Tier 1 capital, which comprised of retained earnings including current year profit. Certain adjustments 
are made to IFRS–based results and reserves, as prescribed by APRA. The Credit Union holds no Tier 2 capital.
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Directors’ Declaration

DIReCtoRs’ DeCLARAtIon
service one Credit Union Limited 
ABn 42 095 848 598

The Directors of Service One Credit Union Limited (the Credit Union) and of the consolidated entity declare that:

1) The financial statements and notes related thereto:

a) Comply with Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001, and

b) Give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2012 and performance for the period ended on that date of 
the Credit Union and of the consolidated entity.

2) The financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 2 (b).

3) In the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Credit Union will be able to pay its debts as and when 
they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

J C Clarke  
Chair

E M Adriaanse 
Chair – Audit and Compliance Committee

Dated this 16th day of August 2012.
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under Professional Standards Legislation
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Independent Audit Report





© Service One Credit Union Limited, operating as SERVICE ONE Members Banking. 
ABN 42 095 848 598, Australian Financial Services Licence/Australian Credit Licence Number 240 836.

Contact us

Phone 
1300 361 761

Fax 
(02) 6215 7171

email
members@somb.com.au

Website
somb.com.au

Visit us
Branches throughout the ACT and surrounding NSW.  
Visit somb.com.au/locate or phone 1300 361 761 for details.

Service One Credit Union Limited
Registered Office:
75 Denison Street, DEAKIN ACT 2600

mailto:members@somb.com.au
http://www.somb.com.au



